
 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Policy and Strategy Lead, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 

 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Day: Thursday 
Date: 28 July 2022 
Time: 6.00 pm 
Place: Committee Room 1 - Tameside One 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 
To receive any declarations of interest from members of the Scrutiny Panel. 

 

3.   MINUTES  1-4 

 The Panel to receive minutes of the meeting of the Integrated Care and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel held on 10 March 2022. 

 

4.   ADULT SOCIAL CARE REFORM WHITE PAPER  5-28 

 
The Panel to meet Councillor John Taylor, Executive Member (Adult Social 

Care); Stephanie Butterworth, Director of Adult Services; and Tracey Harrison, 

Assistant Director, to receive an update on proposals and implications set 

within the White Paper - Integration and innovation: working together to 

improve health and social care for all. 

 

5.   LGSCO LEARNING REPORT  29-86 

 The Panel to receive a service response to the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman learning Report – Unprecedented Pressure: Learning from 
complaints about council and care provider actions during the Covid-19 
pandemic, published in February 2022. 

 

6.   CORPORATE PLAN SCORECARD  87-90 

 To receive for information the Corporate Plan Scorecard.  

7.   ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME  91-94 

 
The Chair to present the Annual Work Programme for 2022/23. 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Policy and Strategy Lead, to whom any apologies for absence 
should be notified. 
 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page 
No 

8.   CHAIR'S UPDATE   

 
The Chair to provide a verbal update on activity and future priorities for the 

Panel. 

 

9.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 
To note that the next meeting of the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Panel will take place on Thursday 22 September 2022. 

 

10.   URGENT ITEMS   

 To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with 
as a matter of urgency. 

 



Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel 
10 March 2022 

 
 

Commenced: 6.00pm 
 
Terminated: 7.40pm 
 
Present:  Councillors T Smith (Chair), S Homer, Affleck, Alam, Cooper, Drennan, Patrick, 

Pearce, N Sharif, Sweeton 
 
Apologies: Councillors Jackson, Martin, Owen, Welsh 
 
 
37. MINUTES 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of the Integrated Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Panel held on 13 

January 2022 were approved as a correct record. 
 
 
38.  CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 

The Panel welcomed Councillor Bill Fairfoull, Deputy Executive Leader (Children and 
Families); Alison Stathers-Tracey, Director of Children’s Services; and Tony Decrop, Assistant 
Director, to receive a response to specific points related to Ofsted, sustainability, forward 
strategy, practice and quality and key priorities for the next 12 months. 
 
Members sought assurances on operational and financial sustainability, with links to the 
previously identified projects and the wider work around placements, accommodation and 
foster care. Mr Decrop provided detail and progress against the seven projects. Key to this 
was: 

 Service redesign and a 7 day working model with core aspects of Early Help to prevent 
escalation 

 Developing a neighbourhood offer and expansion of Early Years offer 

 Team Around the School approach and engaging with education providers 

 Reducing the number of children experiencing drift and delay within systems, including 
courts 

 Internal transfer of cases and responsiveness of social care teams 

 Challenges associated with the workforce, fewer contacts and more consistency for young 
people 

 Review of placements, permanence and planning 

 Strategic priorities and Fostering Service improvements 

 Working with key partners in health, education and housing 
 
The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) updated members on aspects of Ofsted 
communications and appraisal. It was reported that a new self-evaluation had been written in 
February 2022, encompassing all aspects of the service. The latest evidence position 
submitted on 10 March 2022, in preparation for the Annual Conversation with Ofsted. 

 
The Self Evaluation Framework (SEF) details progress delivered since the last Focussed Visit 
Inspection, areas of challenge, impact delivered for our children and young people and areas 
of focus that remain going forward. Members receive a summary of aspects detailed within the 
SEF pertinent and categorised to: 

 What we have delivered 

 What difference have we made 

 What have been our challenges 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 What do we still need to do 
 
The Panel heard that the SEF details service specific priorities across the directorate that will 
be owned by each Head of Service, Service Unit Manager and team. The improvements will 
be driven via the operational teams in each area and align with the Improvement plan as more 
specific, focussed improvement actions with measurable milestones and impact monitored 
quarterly. 

 
Discussion touched upon workforce and leadership, with Councillor Fairfoull updating 
members on recent appointments and plans to create an established and permanent 
leadership team across Children’s Services. 
 
The ambition is now to steady the leadership position through each service, building more 
stability in operational teams, notably in the cared for and care leaving services. All Leaders 
have engaged with a recent Practice Week model, with leaders across the whole of Children's 
Services observing and engaging with front line practice and auditing casework co-designed 
with Stockport partner in practice. 
 
Councillor Fairfoull, Ms Stathers-Tracey and Mr Decrop responded to a number of questions 
from the Panel on: 

 Improvement Plan 

 Practice and quality – signs of safety, timeliness of process such as reviews and plans 

 Identified priorities for the coming 12 months  

 Achieving best value and best outcomes for children and young people 

 Current and expected demand for services, key factors and vulnerability of residents 
regarding poverty and deprivation 

 Responsibility across the system and partners  

 Quality and responsiveness of a range of services to deliver what is needed 

 Clarity, transparency and commitment within the organisation, including cross-directorate 
working 

 Reflective practice and monitoring of interventions to inform future decisions 

 Relationship with Scrutiny regarding effective challenge, support and opportunities to add 
value 

 
Resolved: That Councillor Fairfoull, Ms Stathers-Tracey and Mr Decrop be thanked for 
attending the meeting. 

 
 
39. SCRUTINY BUDGET LETTER 
 

The Panel received for information, a letter of the Scrutiny Chairs to Councillor Oliver Ryan, 
Executive Member, Finance and Economic Growth, in response to annual budget update 
sessions held on 17 January 2022. 
 
The Chair advised members that the letter was presented at the joint meeting of Cabinet and 
Overview Panel on 9 February 2022. 

 
 
40. SCRUTINY ACTIVITY 2021/22 
 

The Chair advised that a report presented at the joint meeting of Cabinet and Overview Panel 
on 9 February included a summary of the Scrutiny Panel’s activity during the year. Work 
undertaken on: 
- Children’s Services improvement 
- Children’s Services – Ofsted focused visit 
- Fostering marketing and recruitment 

Page 2



- Health Improvement Service 
- Health and Care Bill 
- Mental Health (Access and Crisis)  
- Adult Services 
- Tameside SEND inspection 
- Assurance review of LGSCO focus report – Domestic Abuse 
- Corporate Performance Scorecard 
- Ombudsman complaints monitoring 
- Budget updates 

 
 

41. CORPORATE PLAN SCORECARD 
 

The Panel received the Corporate Plan Scorecard for information. 
  

 
42. GREATER MANCHESTER SCRUTINY 
 

The Chair provided a verbal update on known activity of the GMCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 

 
 
43. CHAIR’S UPDATE 
 

The Chair thanked all members for their participation and contribution throughout the 2021/22 
municipal year.  Scrutiny has adapted well, with the reintroduction of face-to-face meetings 
and efforts to deliver the work programme. Next step is to inform the work programme for June 
2022 onwards with updated priority issues and topics.  

 
The Chair advised members of Scrutiny reports tabled at the joint meeting of Cabinet and 
Overview Panel on 9 February 2022. Items specific to the panel include: 

 Scrutiny Update (summary of activity for 2021/22) 

 Scrutiny Interim Report – Mental Health Support (Access and Crisis) 

 Assurance Review of LGSCO Focus Report – Improving Services for Domestic Abuse 
Victims 

 
 
44. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

To note that this is the last formal meeting of the Scrutiny Panel for the 2021/22 municipal 
year.      
 

 
45. URGENT ITEMS 
 

The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting. 
CHAIR 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

People at the Heart of Care:

Adult Social Care Reform White 

Paper

White Paper published 1st December 

2021

Overview & Key Messages

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



2

10 year vision

3 key objectives:

• People have choice, control and support to live independent

lives.

• People can access outstanding quality and tailored care and

support.

• People find adult social care fair and accessible.

Aim is for new measures currently going through Parliament to

strengthen how care and support is delivered and in the spirit of the

Care Act.

*links to the National Autism Strategy; National Disability Strategy; and to the forthcoming White Paper: adult care reform and National

Strategy for Dementia and Carers

P
age 6



3

Overview

Vision for adult social care puts people and families at its heart. It is

a vision that:

• Offers people choice and control over the care they receive

• Promotes independence and enables people to live well as part

of a community

• Properly values our exemplary and committed social care

workforce, enabling them to deliver the outstanding quality care

that they want to provide

• Recognises unpaid carers for their contribution and treats them

fairly

P
age 7



4

Cont…..

Proposals are backed by the new Health and Social Care Levy announced 

in September this year, of which £5.4 billion is being invested into adult 

social care over the next 3 years. Beyond the next 3 years, an 

increasing share of funding raised by the levy will be spent on social 

care in England.

On 7 September 2021, £5.4 billion over 3 years solely for adult social care 

reform was announced, backed at the spending review in October saying 

this investment will be used for the following areas:

• £3.6 billion to pay for the cap on care costs, the extension to means test, 

and support progress towards local authorities paying a fair cost of care, 

which together will remove unpredictable care costs

• £1.7 billion to improve social care in England, including at least £500 

million investment in the workforce

P
age 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-levy
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/record-36-billion-investment-to-reform-nhs-and-social-care


5

Outcomes

10-year vision describes how this will ‘look and feel’ for people who draw on care 

and support

• core purpose of adult social care should be to help them to maintain or gain 

their independence, allowing them to have control over their lives

• investing in preventative services, increasing the care and support options 

available, and providing the right information and advice to allow people to plan 

for the future, we can enable people to remain in their own homes and 

communities for longer and achieve the outcomes that matter to them

The use of ‘I’ statements throughout the white paper provides a framework for us to 

assess impact for individuals.  This is also a clear indication of the intended CQC 

assessment framework for Adult Care (see slide 2 for key outcomes/aims)

P
age 9



6

Providing Care in the right place at 

the right time

• Integration

• Housing

• Digitisation 

P
age 10



7

Integrate housing into local health and 

care strategies

Care and support should be in a person’s own home and personalised in line with their specific needs, 
although recognising that not everyone has a home of their own, and sometimes specific needs are 
best met in a supported living or care home setting

‘Make every decision about care a decision about housing’

Local authorities must: 

• agree a three year plan for embedding housing in  health and care strategies

• Boost supply of supported housing

• Increase local expenditure in supported living

P
age 11



8

Drive greater adoption of technology and achieve widespread 

digitisation across social care. 

Technology enabled care (particularly around prevention rather than detection – e.g. 
prevention of falls not just the detection of falls)

AND

Improving the efficiency of the workforce and support to help service users (digital shared 
care records and e-rostering.

Early priority is to protect the 20% most vulnerable in care homes with falls technology 

By march 2024 – ensure at least 80% of care providers have a digitised care record in 
place that connects to shared care record

P
age 12



9

Innovation around the support and care that is provided in new and 

different ways, providing more options that suit people’s needs and 

individual circumstances

Further reference to the new Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) gives 
increased focus on improving the health of the population, working across government 
departments to co-ordinate efforts and impact. 

Key focus on falls and establishment of a ‘deconditioning inequality innovation fund to 
enable local authorities to support people at particularly high risk of deconditioning’.

P
age 13



10

Empowering those who draw on 

care, unpaid carers and families 

• Improving information and advice

• Empowering unpaid carers

• Supporting autistic people and people with 

a disability into employment

P
age 14



11

Overview

Councils have the duty under the care Act to ensure information and advice services.

Package of measures over next 3 years, with 3 key principles:

• Everyone should be aware of basic information about adult social care and the upcoming reforms 
to the system - national website underway 

• People should have access to personalised advice about adult social care when they need it. 

• There should be oversight and accountability of information and advice services – (these functions 
will be inspected in the new regime)

P
age 15



12

Kick-start a change in the services provided to support unpaid 

carers

Vision for adult social care is one that places people at its heart – and that includes 
recognition and support for unpaid carers so that they are empowered to live happy, 
healthy, and fulfilling lives.

Carers Action Plan to set out a new strategic approach centred around three core strands: 

• Working with the sector to kick start a change in the services provided to support 
unpaid carers

• Identifying, recognising and involving unpaid carers 

• Supporting the economic and social participation of unpaid carers

P
age 16



13

Cont……Identifying, recognising and 

involving  unpaid carers

• Increase the voluntary use of unpaid carer markers in NHS electronic health records by 
simplifying current approaches to data collection and registration

• Introduce a new marker indicating the presence of a contingency plan, where one is 
available, that describes the actions to take if the carer is no longer able to provide 
care

• voices of carers – as well as those who access care and support – are properly 
embedded in Integrated Care Systems (ICSs). 

• Assessing how local authorities are meeting the needs of unpaid carers

• Social prescribing for carers

• Increase flexible working offers from employers

• Commitment to introduce carers leave in response to 2020 public consultation 

• New rate of carers allowance from 2022 (£69.70)

P
age 17



14

Supported employment

• Already in place across GM and locally – assume no further funding for us

• Routes  to Work (Supported employment) already in place locally and also contribute to 
the GM offerP

age 18



15

Strategy for Workforce

• Training and development

• Employment rights and status

• Increase in living wage

P
age 19



16

The  social care workforce will have the right training and qualifications, 

and feel recognised and valued for their skills and commitment and have 

their wellbeing prioritised

Vision is for an adult social care workforce where people can experience a rewarding 
career with opportunities to develop and progress now and in the future. We want staff to 
be empowered to deliver the highest quality of care.

• Develop new universal career structures and training opportunities to enable people to 
progress and realise their potential

• increasing the National Living Wage by 6.6% in 2022 alone, with a commitment for it to 
reach two-thirds of median earnings by 2024

• work with commissioners and providers to make sure care workers are paid for all the 
hours they work and to improve the terms and conditions of the workforce, to help 
ensure a sustainable future supply of care staff –this will be inspected by CQC 

P
age 20



17

Cont…….

Over the next three years, these policies aim to create: 

A well-trained and developed workforce 

• co-develop a universal Knowledge and Skills Framework (KSF) and career structure for 
the social care workforce 

• working with employers to deliver apprenticeships and traineeships; helping adults 
access fully funded Level 3 (A-level equivalent) qualifications in social care, if they do 
not already have one

• Portable care certificates

• KSF linked learning and development offer

• Skills passport

• Leadership and development for registered managers

• CPD for RN’s, OT and other AHP’s working in care sector

• Training routes for people who want to become social workers

P
age 21



18

Supporting Local authorities to 

deliver social care reform

• Inspection and oversight

• Charging, fees and care cap

• Improved data, performance and 

commissioning function

P
age 22



19

Rising demand

Between 2018 and 2040, the number of adults aged 85 and over is projected to increase 
by a further 77% (from 1.4 million to 2.4 million).

Amongst younger age groups too, we are seeing continuing progress in terms of better 
diagnosis, longer life expectancies and higher rates of survival of premature babies. 

We must therefore plan ahead to ensure that people’s needs are met both now and in the 
future. 

Recognition that investment in preventative activities, for example where evidence shows 
that 40% of dementias are preventable through action across the life course, and by 
securing an adequate supply of supported housing that is appropriate to peoples’ needs

Recognition of low fee rates across the country and cross subsidy by self funders.

Promoting the need for funding the cost of care to secure innovation and shape the 
market effectively.

P
age 23



20

People find adult social care fair and 

accessible (charging, fees and care cap) £3.6b

• Reform how people in England pay for their care so no one needs to pay more than £86,000 
for their personal care costs, alongside more generous means-tested support for anyone with 
less than £100,000 in chargeable assets. 

• Ensure that self-funders can access the same rates for care costs in care homes that local 
authorities pay, ending the unfairness where self-funders have to pay more for the same 
care, whilst ensuring local authorities move towards paying a fair cost of care to providers. 

• Ensure fees for care are transparent to allow people to make informed decisions. 

• Improve information and advice to make it more user-friendly and accessible, helping people 
to navigate the care system and understand the options available to them.  

• Provide information and advice that is accurate, up to date and in formats that are tailored to 
individual needs

P
age 24



21

Assurance framework

They will assess how well local authorities are meeting their adult social care duties under 
Part 1 of the Care Act 2014.

This will provide a basis on which we might exercise new legal powers to intervene where a 
local authority is failing or has failed to discharge its duties under Part 1 of the Care Act 
2014. They are based around: 

• Independent assessment of local authorities by the Care Quality Commission 

• Enhanced improvement support, led by the sector 

• A mechanism to intervene, as a last resort, if a local authority is failing 

• Better data

To so this they will need to look at a range of local authorities’ activities……….

P
age 25



22

Potential inspection framework (see pg 83)

• Assessments will be informed by a range of information and data, including insights 
gathered from discussions with local authorities and providers, as well as people who 
draw on care and unpaid carers, whose views and experiences will be central to CQC’s 
assessment approach.

• The use of the “I statements” and the “We statements”

• CQC’s assessment of local authorities will launch no sooner than April 2023

P
age 26



23

Statutory intervention

• Where improved data, intelligence from our regional team, and CQC’s assessment of a 
local authority’s performance identifies a serious and persistent risk to people’s safety 
and well being, we want to take a more active role in supporting local authorities to 
improve

• We will offer ‘directed support’, asking the local authority to produce and implement an 
improvement plan. Where the local authority demonstrates improvement, directed 
support may be withdrawn or tapered off.

• If a local authority has not been able to tackle sustained problems, we want to put in 
place a mechanism to escalate improvement

• The new powers in the Health and Care Bill will provide the The Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care with clear levers to intervene and address the most serious 
concerns in local authorities’ delivery of adult social care.

• These improvement and intervention measures recognise local authorities’ statutory 
roles and responsibilities underpinned by local democratic accountability. 

P
age 27



24

Tameside

Building capacity in our workforce

Preparation for financial changes

Market shaping to offer a wide range of support “at

home”

Preparation for inspection

Focus on Carers

Digital developments

Information review.

P
age 28



Unprecedented pressure:Unprecedented pressure:
Learning from complaints about council and care Learning from complaints about council and care 
provider actions during the COVID-19 pandemicprovider actions during the COVID-19 pandemic

February 2021
Page 29

Agenda Item 5



Contents

Ombudsman’s Foreword	 3

About this report	 6

Our approach to complaints involving COVID-19	 7

COVID casework headlines:	
         -  What period are we looking at?	 8
          -  How many COVID-19 related complaints have 
              we dealt with? 	 8
          -  What types of COVID complaints 
              have we investigated? 	 10
          -  What are the outcomes from our  
              COVID investigations? 	 11
          -  How many COVID related complaints  
              have we upheld? 	 12

Principles of good administrative practice	

         1.  Getting it right – the basics	 15
         2.  Being service user-focused - individual circumstances	 21
         3.  Being open and accountable – evidence-based decisions	 28
         4.  Acting fairly and proportionately 
              - right framework for decisions	 33
         5.  Putting things right – when it goes wrong, put it right	 36
         6.  Seeking continuous improvement – learning from the crisis	 41

Questions for councillors and scrutiny committees	 44

Appendix 	 46

Page 30



Unprecedented pressure 3

Ombudsman’s Foreword

The COVID-19 pandemic has created 
unprecedented pressures for local authorities and 
care providers, requiring them to re-prioritise and 
re-design existing services whilst at the same 
time adopting new duties to support residents 
and local businesses through a time of national 
crisis. Local government was required to do all of 
this at a rapid pace, in a continuously changing 
environment of uncertainty and risk. This report 
looks at how councils and care services coped 
with those challenges, viewed through the lens of 
public complaints.

It follows a similar structure to “Under Pressure” 
– the report we published just over three years 
ago showing what our investigations revealed 
about how councils dealt with another challenge: 
a decade of cuts. 

For many of us, the pandemic will conjure images 
of anxiety and loss – perhaps through direct 

experiences, but certainly through moving stories 
shared by others. This report inevitably touches 
upon some of those personal tragedies. 

For example, a woman who contracted and 
died from COVID-19, while at a care home 
with faltering infection control procedures that 
significantly increased her risk – and who later 
tried to cover up the facts. Or, the homeless 
family left to sofa surf then sleep in a tent at the 
height of the pandemic, after falling through the 
cracks between different departments of the 
same council.

However, the purpose of our work is not to 
investigate the pandemic itself, nor are we 
generally best placed to look at some of the 
most sensitive personal concerns about matters 
such as avoidable deaths. Our primary focus is 
on systems and services, and that focus is the 
subject of this report.

Page 31

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4468/UNDER-PRESSURE-FINAL1.pdf


Unprecedented pressure 4

The main insight from the first 18 months of 
our investigations, is that COVID-19 exposed 
fault-lines in council and care provider systems 
that were already present. It heaped additional 
pressure on pre-existing weaknesses – some 
of the same weaknesses we highlighted in our 
previous Under Pressure report. 

And amongst those services that showed the 
strain during the pandemic, I am particularly 
concerned that, in some authorities, dealing 
with public concerns and complaints was itself a 
casualty of the crisis. At a time when listening to 
public problems was more important than ever, 
we saw some overstretched and under-resourced 
Complaints Teams struggle to cope. If evidence 
was needed, this report proves that managing 
complaints should be considered a frontline 
service.

However, while acknowledging the challenges, 
there is much in this report that local authorities 
and social care providers can be proud of. 
There is no indication, from our investigations, 
of systemic failure or collapse in local services 
under the pressures of the pandemic. On the 
contrary, the proportion of complaints we upheld 
where COVID-19 was a factor was lower than 
complaints where it wasn’t, over the same period. 

It is also worth noting what is absent from this 
report. Despite the exceptional context, we did 
not uncover a host of new types of faults arising 
from the pandemic. For example, we received 
remarkably few complaints about the new, and 

potentially controversial, duties that councils 
were given during the pandemic, such as those 
to promote social distancing and the use of 
‘COVID Marshals’. And in fundamental services, 
such as local government licensing, we received 
surprisingly few complaints – in contrast to media 
reports about substantial problems with some 
national administrative systems. 

So, whilst in no way diminishing the sometimes 
tragic individual cases we investigated about 
deaths in care or poor end of life support, the 
evidence from public complaints as a whole  
suggests that the local government and adult care 
sectors pulled together under stress to maintain 
their services as far as could be reasonably 
expected in very difficult circumstances.

The one significant area of new and unexpected 
casework deriving from COVID-19 has come from 
business owners complaining about the decisions 
councils made on their applications for grants to 
support the impact of lockdowns and restrictions. 
Around 40% of our COVID investigations have 
been about this topic. 

We recognise councils were setting up schemes 
quickly and with the flexibility to tailor them to 
local needs. And we also recognise the need 
for adequate safeguards to prevent misuse. 
However, we did find some common faults in this 
area. We saw some examples of blanket policy 
decisions overriding individual circumstances 
and an absence of ways for people to appeal 
or review their cases. Yet, even in this area, 
we did not find fault in the majority of cases we 
investigated.  

In presenting these findings, we readily 
acknowledge that we only ever see part of the 
picture. People only come to us when they 
believe something is wrong, and possibly during 
the pandemic the desire to pursue complaints 
linked to COVID-19 was tempered by reduced 
expectations.

I am particularly concerned 
that, in some authorities, 
dealing with public concerns 
and complaints was itself a 
casualty of the crisis.

Page 32



Unprecedented pressure 5

There will be other routes to examine the wider 
connections between the pandemic, public policy, 
and public service delivery. However I hope that, 
added to evidence from others, the insight from 
people’s direct experiences in our complaints, 
can add colour to the picture of how local 
services responded during the pandemic. This 
body of work, including some 90 case studies, is 
offered as an important resource for serious case 
reviews, public inquiries, and inquests.

We have consciously chosen here to focus on 
the administrative actions of councils and care 
providers, with our usual emphasis on how we 
can learn from what went wrong. As such, this 
report particularly highlights the recommendations 
that so many organisations have already adopted 
in response to our investigations to make 
improvements to their services to avoid repeating 
similar faults.

On that front, I welcome that many councils and 
care providers took the right approach to our 
decisions. Many have agreed to incorporate 
our findings into their own reviews of processes 
and practices in the light of the crisis. I hope 
this report will provide further stimulation for 
all councils and care providers to reflect on 
the lessons learned from working during these 
intense conditions and how complaints can help 
lead to sustained improvement.

Michael King, 

Local Government and  
Social Care Ombudsman

The local government and 
the adult care sectors pulled 
together under stress to 
maintain their services as far 
as could be expected in very 
difficult circumstances.

Page 33



Unprecedented pressure 6

About this report

In May 2020 we issued a short guide to councils 
and care providers, which set out our approach to 
considering complaints about delivering services 
during COVID-19. 

It was an addendum to our existing principles 
of good administrative practice, and intended to 
encourage organisations to reflect on practice 
during the crisis. It has six principles of good 
practice

This report pulls together the learning from 
our COVID-19 casework under the same six 
headings.

This structure deliberately reflects our sense that 
organisations worked in new and different ways 
because of COVID. Traditional service structures 
and organisational boundaries had to break down 
to enable creative solutions. 

The view we present of local services is inevitably 
focused on the actions of councils and care 
providers that have been complained about. To 
balance this out, we’ve also reflected what our 
casework told us about services delivered under 
pressure without fault. 

The report summarises common issues identified 
through cases on which we carried out a full 
investigation. It also gives headline figures 
and trends from those cases where our initial 
assessment did not prompt full investigation. 

The case studies in the report explain our findings 
and focus on our recommendations for service 
improvements. We have deliberately omitted 
personal remedies – the actions we asked 
organisations to take to address injustice caused 
to the persons directly affected. 

This is because the report aims to encourage 
councils and care providers to learn and reflect 
on service improvement – we often find things 
have gone wrong for people when systems and 
good governance aren’t underpinned by getting 
“the basics” right. Dealing with complaints is a 
key frontline service. Learning from complaints 
can often be free consultancy, shining a light on 
underlying problems with the potential to cause 
future injustice.

The report finishes with some suggested 
questions to help those responsible for 
scrutinising council and care provider services. 
Following this we present a bank of additional 
case studies from COVID-19 investigations not 
used in the main body of the report.

Page 34

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4469/Good-Administrative-Practice-vF2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/4469/Good-Administrative-Practice-vF2.pdf


Unprecedented pressure 7

Our approach to complaints involving COVID-19

At the end of March 2020, because we 
recognised the impact the pandemic was having 
on councils and care providers, we decided to 
suspend our casework investigations for the first 
time in our history.

To deal consistently and robustly with the 
complaints we would inevitably see about 
COVID-19, we knew we would have to 
closely track the growing range of COVID 
specific legislation and guidance affecting the 
organisations we investigate. 

We quickly created a specialist team of 
investigators to assess and investigate COVID-19 
complaints. We developed internal guidance 
to support the team, and a new system of 
categorisation so complaints could easily be 
tracked. 

This divided COVID complaints into two types:

•	 Complaints directly involving new legislation 
and guidance (for example changes to the 
support for children with special educational 
needs during the pandemic), which we 
termed ‘primary COVID’ cases; and

•	 Complaints where the pandemic and its 
impact on people and organisations was 
an extra difficult or aggravating factor 
(for example services like statutory noise 
nuisance, where rules didn’t change but 
pressure on staff, and potential increase in 
cases during lockdown affected timescales). 
We termed these ‘secondary COVID’ cases.

We restarted investigating complaints at the end 
of June 2020 following a three-month pause. 

Page 35



Unprecedented pressure 8

COVID casework headlines

What period are we looking at?
All the analysis in this section covers the period of 
1 April 2020 to 30 November 2021. With the first 
two months of that period seeing our casework 
largely suspended, in terms of our investigations 
it can be classed as the first 18 months of the 
pandemic (June 2020 to November 2021).

How many COVID-19 related complaints 
have we dealt with? 
Between 1 April 2020 and 30 November 2021, we 
decided 1,123 complaints and enquiries from the 
public, which featured COVID-19 as a primary or 
secondary factor. We decided 505 of those cases 
with a detailed investigation.

As a comparison with our total casework, we 
decided more than 24,158 complaints and 
enquiries on all topics, with 6,056 cases decided 
by detailed investigation.

Figure 1 shows the number of all COVID 
decisions we made each month. These comprise 
complaints dealt with by an initial check, an 
initial investigation (assessment) and a detailed 
investigation.

Figure 2 shows COVID cases closed as a 
percentage of total cases closed. This has so far 
peaked at around 6.5% (May 2021).

Page 36



Unprecedented pressure 9

0

20

40

60

80

100

Nov Oct Sep Aug Jul Jun May Apr Mar Feb Jan Dec Nov Oct Sep Aug Jul Jun May Apr 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Nov Oct Sep Aug Jul Jun May Apr Mar Feb Jan Dec Nov Oct Sep Aug Jul Jun May Apr 

Figure 1: COVID-19 cases (primary or secondary subcategory) closed in each month

Figure 2: COVID-19 cases closed as a percentage of total cases closed

2020/21

2020/21

Page 37



Unprecedented pressure 10

What types of COVID complaints have we investigated? 
The main categories of COVID complaints we 
have investigated are:

•	 Benefits & tax (41%) – which have been 
almost exclusively about council decisions 
on business support grants introduced by 
the government to address the impact of 
lockdown on the economy

•	 Adult social care (20%) – which covers both 
care provided/commissioned by councils as 
well as by private sector care homes

•	 Education and children’s services (12%) – 
which covers issues like school admissions 
and support for children and young people 
with special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND)

Smaller numbers of other complaints covering 
subject areas as diverse as planning, allotments, 
use of facilities (e.g. libraries and, in one case, a 
marina)

Figure 3 shows the balance of our COVID 
complaints is significantly different to the mix 
of subjects we look at in our ‘typical’ overall 
caseload.

By far the largest difference is the 41% versus 8% 
in Benefits & tax, swung by the influx of business 
grant complaints mentioned above. This category 
normally comprises mostly complaints about 
council tax and benefits.

The balance of COVID complaint types has been 
broadly stable over the eighteen month period. 
Education and social care complaints took a little 
longer to come to us, probably because they 
tend to be more complex and take more time to 
be investigated by the responsible organisations. 
Complaints about business grant decisions 
started at a high level and have sustained 
throughout the period.

0 20 40 60 80 100

Figure 3: COVID-19 case category distribution compared to overall category 
distribution of all cases

All cases

COVID: primary  
and secondary  
subcategories

16%

20% 41% 5% 12% 7% 3% 4% 6%

8% 5% 19% 11% 12% 13% 11% 4%

Adult care services

Education & 
children’s services

Planning & 
development

Highways & 
transport

Other & null

Environmental 
services & public 
protection

Housing

Benefits & tax Corporate & other services

Page 38



Unprecedented pressure 11

What are the outcomes from our COVID investigations? 
There are different outcomes from our 
investigations:

•	 Incomplete/ invalid
For some enquiries we give advice the person 
should go to a different organisation  better suited 
to address their issue

•	 Refer back for local resolution
Where the complaint has come to us before the 
organisation has had a reasonable chance to deal 
with it

•	 Closed after initial enquiries (initial 
investigation)

Where we decide not to investigate a complaint 
– for example because we decide there is not 
enough evidence of significant injustice, or we 
are unlikely to be able to add to the outcome of 
what’s already happened or achieve what people 
want 

•	 Upheld/ Not upheld
Where we make a finding of whether the 
organisation’s actions have been at fault and 
whether it caused injustice. Where we find 
injustice, including potential future injustice 
to others, we can make recommendations to 
remedy the situation.

Figure 4 compares the distribution of outcomes 
from COVID complaints against our typical 
casework outcomes. We carried out more 
detailed investigations (45%) on COVID 
complaints than we did across all our work (25%).

On COVID complaints, we also made a 
significantly lower proportion of decisions that 
cases were incomplete or people needed advice 
to seek resolution elsewhere. This is likely to be 
because it was clearer to people that COVID 
complaints were for us to investigate compared 
with our full caseload which often includes clearly 
misdirected cases, such as complaints about 
banks or travel firms. 

Whatever the outcome, our decisions are 
important for complainants and the organisations 
investigated. 

We promptly identify the cases which others 
are better placed to consider, or when it is too 
early for us to carry out an initial investigation 
(assessment). This helps people to resolve their 
issue as soon as possible. 

If we find the organisation has not been at fault, 
or the fault has not caused injustice, it can still 
bring closure to a situation and allow relationships 
to move on. 

During our initial investigation (assessment), we 
can also reach findings of fault and injustice, and 
make recommendations to remedy this. This 
saves time by avoiding the need for a detailed 
investigation.

Page 39



Unprecedented pressure 12

0 20 40 60 80 100

Figure 4: COVID-19 outcomes compared with normal casework outcomes

All cases

COVID: primary  
and secondary  
subcategories

6%

1%

8% 26%

21%

34%

32%

25%

45%

Incomplete/ invalid Advice given

Closed after initial 
enquiries

Referred back for 
local resolution

Detailed 
investigation

How many COVID related complaints have we upheld? 
We uphold a complaint if we find fault in the 
organisation’s actions, whether or not it caused 
injustice to the complainant. 

We upheld 62% of the COVID complaints we 
investigated. This is slightly lower than the 66% of 
complaints we upheld across all our work. Within 
the overall COVID complaints uphold rate, we 
upheld 59% of complaints categorised as primary 
COVID cases – those that involved COVID-19 
specific legislation and guidance. 

Most of our upheld decisions are a result of 
a detailed investigation. However in several 
COVID cases, about business support grants and 
environmental services, we decided to uphold 
complaints after an initial investigation (our 
assessment stage). This was usually because 
the council accepted fault and there was likely no 

additional value in us investigating further. We 
include some of these case studies in this report.

Figure 5 shows uphold rates for different types 
of COVID complaint, compared with all our work. 
The noticeable difference is in highways and 
transport (13% versus 54%). However, due to 
the low number of COVID decisions on this topic, 
the proportional difference is not statistically 
significant. Otherwise, we had broadly similar 
uphold rates for COVID related complaints 
compared with typical casework. This chimes 
with our overall conclusions: that the pandemic 
broadly led to similar types of complaints as 
we normally receive, which is a testament 
to how organisations responded well to the 
unprecedented pressures of the last eighteen 
months.

Page 40



Unprecedented pressure 13

10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Figure 5: Uphold rates

Adult c
are se

rvice
s

Benefits
 & Tax

Housin
g

Corporate and  

other se
rvice

s

Highways &
 

tra
nsp

ort

Planning  &
 

development

Educatio
n & 

ch
ild

ren’s s
ervice

s

Enviro
nmental se

rvice
s 

& public 
protecti

on

68%
71%

48%

64%

53%

60%

76% 77%

65%
62%

80%

72%

13%

54%

60%

45%

COVID-19: Primary 
and Secondary sub-
categories

All cases

Page 41



COVID Casework: 
principles and case 

studies

Page 42



Unprecedented pressure 15

Principles of good administrative practice

1.	 Getting it right – the basics
Our expectations 
It might be tempting to view the basic principles 
of good administration as disposable when 
facing extreme pressure – things like accurate 
record keeping and properly documenting how 
decisions are made. But we argue the basics are 
more important than ever in a crisis; they remain 
essential building blocks of effective decision 
making.

Our guide on Good administrative practice during 
the response to COVID-19 (‘our guide’) said: 

•	 Basic record keeping is vital during crisis 
working. There should always be a clear 
audit trail of how and why decisions were 
made, particularly summarising key reasons 
for departing from normal practice

•	 When you are working with new 
organisations to deliver services during 
COVID-19 or using existing partners in 
new ways, ensure your organisation keeps 
proper oversight and direction. When you 
delegate responsibility to others (e.g. the 
voluntary sector), responsibility remains with 
your organisation 

•	 Where COVID-19 is causing you to devolve 
decisions to a more local level, make sure 
those decision makers can access prompt, 
appropriate legal advice where necessary 

•	 When moving staff from less immediately 
critical roles into frontline services, 
care should be taken that this does not 
undermine the organisation’s ability to 
maintain essential services

What we found
Adult social care – cases involving councils and 
care providers

We found faults with:

•	 Care plans not being properly developed 
and/or reviewed as circumstances changed 
during the pandemic 

•	 Inadequate record keeping of care provided 
to people during lockdown meaning 
uncertainty about how they were supported

•	 Pre-existing delays and backlogs in service 
delivery exacerbated and compounded by 
the impact of COVID-19 meaning important 
actions further delayed

Case reference: 20 004 806
The complainant’s mother was not properly 
cared for by care workers visiting her home 
during the pandemic. We found she was 
often kept waiting for them to arrive and 
was therefore unable to get up and take her 
medication. The care provider sent a care 
worker with COVID-19 symptoms despite 
agreeing this should not happen. 

We found the care provider had not reviewed 
its support plan to manage expectations, when 
it struggled to deliver the care package during 
the pandemic. We also found it did not make 
sure carers self-isolated when suffering from 
COVID-19 symptoms.

Recommendations to improve

The care provider agreed to review care 
packages in future when it has problems 
delivering them.

Page 43

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/5823/Good-Administrative-Practice-C19-v1.2.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-806


Unprecedented pressure 16

Case reference: 20 014 255    
We found the care provider commissioned 
by the council failed to look after an elderly 
woman properly. She caught COVID-19 and 
died from it at the care home. The home rarely 
recorded her temperature, despite knowing 
it needed to. It kept poor care records; there 
were contradictions and gaps. It did not follow 
government guidance about seeking medical 
advice when the woman was in isolation after 
catching COVID. 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
had already identified problems with 
infection control at the home at the time. In 
correspondence with the family, the provider 
misrepresented its findings, intimating there 
were issues only with its record keeping rather 
than its measures to control the spread of 
infections too. 

Recommendations to improve

We asked the council to work with the home 
to develop an action plan to improve record 
keeping and its approach to seeking medical 
advice. The home was already acting on 
infection control measures.

Case reference: 20 006 019 
The council took more than two years to 
consider important adaptations to a man’s 
home so he could safely live there, which was 
required because of his health problems. Some 
of the delay was because of the pandemic, 
while some pre-dated it. 

We said the process took at least 14 months 
longer than it should have, even taking into 
account the inevitable impact of the pandemic 
on the council’s services. The council’s policy 
had no timescales for completing the work. 

Recommendations to improve

As a result of our investigation the council 
agreed to do a comprehensive action plan, 
involving scrutiny by elected councillors, 
to fundamentally review its approach to 
occupational therapy assessments and how it 
prioritises casework.

Page 44

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-014-255
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/disabled-facilities-grants/20-006-019


Unprecedented pressure 17

Benefits and tax – cases about financial support 
for businesses affected by COVID-19 

We found fault with: 

•	 Providing information to applicants that 
adequately explained priorities and 
timescales of COVID-19 grant schemes and 
other support

•	 Keeping adequate records to explain 
decisions about approval of grants – leaving 
businesses uncertain why they had not been 
supported

Case reference: 20 013 446
The council knew a business had moved 
outside its area. Yet it told the complainant, 
who had applied for grant assistance, that it 
would pay him a top up grant after making an 
initial payment. The man then made important 
business decisions based on that assurance. 
The council kept no records of how it made 
decisions about the criteria for awarding top up 
grants. It then refused to pay the man when it 
realised his business was no longer operating 
in the area. However, there was no policy on 
which to base this decision and it was contrary 
to what it had told him.

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to train staff to ensure they 
keep timely records of decision making and 
publish relevant policies in future.

Case reference: 20 006 059
A business applied for a small business 
COVID-19 grant in summer 2020. The council 
refused the grant, saying the business was 
not eligible because it did not occupy business 
premises. The business then applied for a 
discretionary grant which the council refused, 
saying the application was out of time. 

We found the council’s website did not explain 
businesses had to apply for discretionary 
COVID-19 grants within a certain timescale. It 
was not clear enough about this critical detail. 
The business went to the trouble of making an 
application that it might not have made, had 
this been clear. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to consider future 
complaints about decisions rejected on the 
same basis, taking into account our guidance 
on remedies, and would signpost people to us 
if they remained unhappy. 

Page 45

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-013-446
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-006-059
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/staff-guidance/guidance-on-remedies
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/staff-guidance/guidance-on-remedies


Unprecedented pressure 18

Education & children’s services: school 
admissions

 We found typical faults we see during normal 
times, but these were made worse by COVID-19 
special working arrangements. For example, 
poor record keeping of appeals and failing 
to adequately explain reasons for dismissing 
appeals had more of an impact in some cases 
because councils were running hearings online.

Case reference: 20 002 298
We found several faults in the school 
admission appeal panel hearing, acting under 
COVID-19 rules. 

A panel member attended only part of the 
hearing because of illness, an officer made 
inappropriate interventions and the clerk and 
chair failed to intervene when panel members 
also made inappropriate comments. 

The decision letter did not adequately set out 
the decision and was not signed by the clerk or 
chair.

Special Educational Needs 

The education of children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) was 
particularly, and in some cases unavoidably, 
disrupted during the COVID-19 lockdown 
restrictions. For a limited period, the government 
allowed councils to suspend their normal absolute 
duty to secure provision required by Education, 
Health and Care (EHCP) plans, replacing this with 
a need to make “reasonable endeavours”. 

We investigated several complaints about these 
matters, finding faults where councils failed to 
properly record or show how they had considered 
reasonable endeavours. We also found examples 
where the impact of pre-existing delays in 
carrying out assessments before the pandemic 
was worsened by what then happened. This 
meant children avoidably missed out on important 
provision. 

In other cases, we found councils had failed to 
keep parents properly informed of changes in 
provision and delays in securing that provision. 
This caused them distress and uncertainty about 
what was happening and the options available to 
meet their children’s needs.

Case reference: 20 003 475
We found the council had taken too long to 
act on concerns raised by a mother about 
the special educational needs provision her 
son was getting at their school during the first 
lockdown. 

During the period covered by the ‘reasonable 
endeavours’ duty, it failed to identify, record 
or share which parts of the plan would be 
delivered. It did not show how it had used 
reasonable endeavours to ensure the young 
man got the support he required. 

In this case we did not make service 
improvement recommendations as, by then, 
the reasonable endeavours duty had ended.

Page 46

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-002-298
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-003-475


Unprecedented pressure 19

Case reference: 20 000 627
The complaint covers the period of lockdown 
during which councils had to make reasonable 
endeavours to provide the special educational 
needs set out in a young person’s EHC Plan. 

We found the council failed to set out which 
elements of special educational provision in 
the plan would be provided by the school. It 
also failed to explain how the available support 
would be different from that required by the 
plan. This was despite repeated requests 
for this important information. This caused 
frustration and meant the parent did not know 
in any detail what support his son would 
receive. 

Recommendations to improve

We decided not to make service improvement 
recommendations because the period for risk 
assessments had, by then, passed.

Case reference: 20 001 515 
We found no evidence the council had carried 
out risk assessments to see what parts of a 
vulnerable young man’s EHC plan could be 
met at home, or another safe setting, during 
COVID-19. 

The council made no effort before lockdown 
to enable a therapist to work with the man. 
This meant they were not ready to do so once 
lockdown started. It failed to follow this up or 
decide whether another therapist could work 
with him. 

We decided the council did not use reasonable 
endeavours to provide support. It resulted in 
the young man missing out on direct support 
from the therapy, as well as indirect support 
due to teachers and support assistants not 
having the training from therapists required to 
help him. 

Case reference: 20 005 883 
The council delayed issuing an EHC Plan for 
a young man with multiple special educational 
needs. This delay happened before the 
temporary COVID-19 law changes came 
into force, so the council still had to secure 
provision and make reasonable endeavours to 
put this in place. We found the council provided 
no evidence it had done so. 

The council also failed to send an amended 
final plan to the man’s college after term had 
ended. This meant the college did not know 
about the increased support in the new plan. 
The man missed out on the chance to have 
extra provision in place, even if this had to be 
delivered remotely because of the pandemic. 
The council was also seven months late 
carrying out an annual review, by which time 
the man had left college. It also failed to plan 
for the man’s transition to adult care or to deal 
with the complaint properly.  

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to review procedures for 
sending plans to schools and colleges, and for 
checking provision is in place. It also agreed to 
review its checks on annual reviews, especially 
at key stages in a person’s education. 

Page 47

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-000-627
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-001-515
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-005-883


Unprecedented pressure 20

Housing: Homelessness

At the start of the pandemic, some of the most 
acute needs were experienced by people who 
were homeless. Councils were given time-limited 
resources and powers under the “Everyone In” 
initiative to get people off the streets and into 
safer accommodation.

However, in one high profile case summarised 
below, we identified a succession of faults 
causing significant personal injustice to a 
homeless family during the pandemic.

Case reference: 20 004 585 (public 
interest report) 
A teenager was left to sofa surf and live 
in a tent for almost two months during the 
pandemic after his family was left homeless. 
The council missed at least five opportunities to 
house the teenager and his mother during the 
summer of 2020. 

When the mother first approached the council, 
it decided it had no duty to house her and 
her 16 year old son under its homelessness 
obligations. But it placed the family in 
temporary accommodation because of its child 
protection duties. 

The family became homeless in July 2020 
when the children’s services department asked 
them to leave the temporary accommodation. 
In making the family homeless the council 
failed to consider government guidance 
which asked landlords to work with renters 
who may experience hardship as a result of 
the pandemic. The council then failed to take 
action despite contact from the mother and the 
homelessness charity Shelter. 

Recommendations to improve

As well as personal remedies the council 
agreed to provide refresher training for staff to 
ensure they understand their duties under the 
Housing Act.

Page 48

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/20-004-585


Unprecedented pressure 21

2.	 Being service user-focused - individual circumstances
Our expectations 
Organisations should properly consider 
someone’s individual circumstances and not rely 
on inflexible blanket policies that treat everyone 
the same. They should also consider whether 
any reasonable adjustments are required to help 
someone access the service. 

We recognise pandemic working required 
councils and care providers to adapt and create 
new and fast changing rules, thresholds and 
triaging of services. But this should not come at 
the cost of properly considering how these new 
processes apply to individual circumstances. 

Our guide said: 

•	 Where new or adapted policies and 
procedures are brought in, ensure frontline 
staff are clear about any new expectations 
so they can give the right advice to service 
users

•	 Even when national rule changes allow 
raised thresholds for action, ensure 
you properly consider the individual 
circumstances of each case 

•	 Emergency working will cause backlogs in 
access to many, now lower priority services. 
Try to plan ahead so there can be a phased 
return 

What we found 
Adult social care – cases involving councils and 
care providers

We found faults with:

•	 Significant delays carrying out Care Act 
assessments, sometimes preventing or 
delaying moves out of hospital, or moves 
between providers 

•	 The needs of people receiving care not 
being put at the centre of decisions about 
what happened 

•	 Rules governing the use of personal 
protective equipment (PPE) not being 
adhered to and/or fast changing rules and 
procedures not always being adopted 
throughout an organisation’s practice

•	 Failure to adapt promptly to the opportunity 
to reopen services as restrictions relaxed 
– including relaxing visiting rules as the 
country emerged from national lockdowns

•	 Difficulties prioritising key decisions about 
longer-term care during the pandemic 

•	 Inflexibility about the creative use of direct 
payments to secure appropriate care when 
normal provision was affected by lockdown 

•	 Unclear advice to relatives about visiting 
people in care homes at end of life

Principles of good administrative practice

Page 49



Unprecedented pressure 22

Case reference: 20 005 598 (Joint 
health and social care decision) 
The care provider suspended a vulnerable 
woman’s home care package because of the 
pandemic. We decided this was not in keeping 
with regulations regarding person centred, safe 
and dignified care. The woman was left without 
care for five days, meaning family members 
had to provide the care which should have 
been done so through her package. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was 
responsible for ensuring the woman got the 
care she required. We found it failed to give the 
necessary advice and did not seek advice from 
the council infection control team. Its advice to 
the care provider and family was contrary to 
personal, protective equipment guidance and 
regulations. 

The council’s closure of a safeguarding case 
was contrary to statutory guidance. It did not 
explore the decision making that led to the 
suspension of the care package or to seek 
advice about infection control. 

Recommendations to improve

The care provider and CCG agreed to draw 
up action plans to improve guidance about 
homecare provision during the pandemic, 
and ensure they met that guidance when 
commissioning care.

Case reference: 20 011 457
The care provider failed to escalate the case 
when a woman’s health deteriorated while at 
home during the pandemic. It failed to follow 
the steps in its own policy, agreed during the 
pandemic, to ensure the woman was assessed 
by an appropriate clinician. 

We found the woman not being able to die in 
familiar surroundings with her family around 
her was a tragic situation. However, that was 
essentially due to her unforeseeable decline 
and the COVID-19 restrictions limiting hospital 
visitors and the transferring of patients back to 
the community. This was not within the care 
provider’s control. 

We could not say different action would have 
resulted in a different outcome. But the care 
provider’s response to the family’s complaint 
was inaccurate. Its actions caused the family 
avoidable distress and confusion at an already 
traumatic time. 

Case reference: 20 006 454
The care provider looking after a woman in 
her home, did not take reasonable steps to 
manage risks of infection during the pandemic. 
Its risk assessments about staff using personal, 
protective equipment were not specific or 
detailed enough to show it had properly 
considered potential risks from COVID-19. 

Recommendations to improve

As a result of our investigation the provider 
agreed to develop a policy to ensure concerns 
raised by service users were recorded, risk 
assessments for using PPE were completed 
and records of actions at care visits were kept.

Page 50

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/safeguarding/20-005-598
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/20-011-457
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/20-006-454


Unprecedented pressure 23

Case study: 20 001 450: (Joint health 
and social care decision) 
A care home was looking after a woman in the 
final days of her life during the early weeks 
of the pandemic. She needed palliative ‘just 
in case’ medication to ease her pain. It is not 
clear whether COVID-19 was a factor in her 
illness. 

We found the care home did what it could to 
obtain the medication. But when it arrived, it did 
not chase up the NHS hub to get a community 
nurse to administer it, although this would 
not necessarily have resulted in someone 
attending sooner. We found the GP surgery 
failed to appreciate the urgency of the situation 
when contacted about drugs. It did not tell the 
home how to get an urgent appointment so 
the medicine could be administered. We found 
the NHS Trust did not follow its usual referral 
process. 

These collective failures caused avoidable 
pain and distress for the elderly woman in 
the last days of her life. She had to wait until 
the following morning for the medication. 
The family also suffered avoidable distress 
of seeing their mother in significant pain at a 
traumatic time. 

Recommendations to improve

The care provider agreed to remind staff of the 
process to get urgent, end of life medication. 
The GP practice agreed to ensure staff 
are aware of the need for an emergency 
appointment when anticipatory medicine is 
needed. 

Case reference: 20 004 578 
The council was responsible for a range of 
support services, including a day centre, for a 
young man with a range of care needs. 

When he was unable to access the support 
required by his care and support plan for a 
time during lockdown, the council failed to 
communicate properly with the family about 
what was happening. This left them having 
to find out what services were available 
elsewhere and increased their anxiety about 
the situation. It also meant the man did not 
return to the day centre as soon as it reopened 
and was willing to accept him. 

We found the council had failed to 
communicate as effectively as it should with 
the family. It agreed to learn lessons from what 
had happened.   

Case reference: 20 005 651 
An elderly man died at the care home during 
the pandemic. We found the home followed 
guidance about restrictions on family visiting 
arrangements but should have been clearer 
with his daughter when it decided to stop her 
visiting. 

This fault caused her distress about whether 
she could have been with her father at the end 
of his life. In its complaint response, the care 
home said it had not told the family they could 
not visit. This contradicted its own records, 
which show it did. 

Page 51

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-001-450
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-578
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-005-651


Unprecedented pressure 24

Case reference: 20 005 645
A young woman with learning and physical 
disabilities had a package of care and support 
arranged through the council. Her family used 
direct payments to pay for personal assistants 
to help them with this.

During the pandemic the family stopped using 
the assistants in accordance with government 
advice about limiting visits to the home to 
reduce the spread of infection. They continued 
to pay for them because they wanted to use 
them again after the COVID restrictions were 
lifted. They asked the council if they could use 
the direct payments more flexibly to pay family 
members to provide the care the assistants 
would otherwise have done. 

The council decided they could not do so. 
We said this was not in line with government 
advice, which encouraged flexibility and 
relaxing restrictions on the use of direct 
payments during the pandemic. We said the 
council needed to reconsider its decision.

Case reference: 20 011 374 
The council gave direct payments so that a 
young adult with learning disabilities could 
access a personal assistant to help at the 
weekend, when the young person wasn’t at 
college. 

It made no attempt to contact the family during 
the first COVID-19 lockdown to see how they 
were coping. We said if it had, the family 
would likely have explained that lockdown, 
shielding and ill health meant other family 
members had to step in. The council did not 
act in accordance with the ethical framework 
for adult social care. It had not been inclusive 
or supportive, or considered the exceptional 
circumstances affecting the family.

Case reference: 20 008 271 
The council gave misleading information about 
what it could do to help a woman whose care 
needs were affected by the closure of day 
centres and respite care during the pandemic. 
The council said it could not compel centres to 
open but in fact it had decided how the centre 
relating to the complaint would reopen, and 
who it would provide services for. 

It failed to keep records about its decision 
making, and was too slow to start planning for 
re-opening day centres after the pandemic, 
after taking too long to produce risk 
assessments and meet providers. 

Page 52

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-005-645
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/direct-payments/20-011-374
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-008-271


Unprecedented pressure 25

Case reference: 20 007 901 
An elderly man living in a care home provided 
on behalf of the council became unwell at the 
start of the pandemic. He was taken to hospital 
for overnight checks. After he returned to the 
care home his health deteriorated and he died 
from COVID several days later. 

Gaps in the care home’s records meant we 
could not be certain about what happened in 
the final hours of his life and whether someone 
was with him when he died. Records show 
regular checks and care for the man, but the 
provider’s poor record keeping means his 
daughter cannot be sure what happened in the 
final hours of her father’s life. 

Recommendations to improve

As a result of our investigation the care home 
has improved record keeping and how it talks 
about end-of-life care planning with families. 

Case reference: 20 010 666 
A care home used a definition of end-of-life 
care that was too narrow, to prevent family 
members visiting their mother during the 
pandemic as often as should have been 
possible before her death. We found the home 
regarded ‘end of life’ as being linked to the 
prescription of specific medication given at the 
‘very end’ of life, rather than the wider definition 
expected by government guidance.

It should have been clear that when the woman 
started refusing food she was approaching 
the end of life. The provider should then have 
reviewed visiting arrangements. Instead, it 
made the irrational decision to require the 
family to rotate their visits, thereby increasing 
the number of people visiting. 

Recommendations to improve

We recommended the home improved its 
approach to how it planned for end-of-life care, 
acting before the very end of life. 

Case reference: 20 007 217
A man with a range of care needs lived with his 
family. Before COVID, he went to a council run 
day centre several times a week and his family 
met his care and support needs outside that 
time. 

After day centres closed during lockdown, the 
family was concerned about how the loss of 
support affected the man. They helped look 
after him. Then they asked the council for help 
when the man’s father became ill. The council 
offered to arrange support but introducing 
this became held up by discussions about an 
assessment. It meant the father lost out on 
important help.  

The council is now reassessing people to 
understand the impact COVID-19 has had on 
them and their families and carers to see if it 
has affected their assessed care needs. 

Page 53

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-901
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-010-666
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-217


Unprecedented pressure 26

Benefits and taxation – cases about financial 
support for businesses affected by COVID-19 

We found fault with: 

•	 Blanket decision making about the eligibility 
of certain business sectors, rather than 
appropriate consideration of specific 
circumstances

•	 Inflexible application of guidance where 
appropriately broadly similar businesses 
were treated differently for support 

Case reference: 20 005 499  
The council withdrew COVID-19 rates relief 
and a retail, hospitality and leisure grant from 
a man’s business. The government gave 
councils wide discretion about how to apply the 
discount and award grants. But we found the 
council took a blanket approach to its decisions 
about the discount and grant, which were 
based on information from the Valuation Office 
Agency’s rating list. 

The council did not give notice to businesses 
that it could remove the discount and grants 
after further checks. For this business, it 
awarded and then removed the discount and 
grant without explaining or giving any reasons. 
This caused confusion and uncertainty, and 
probably influenced subsequent decisions 
made by the business. There were also 
significant delays dealing with the complaint. 
However, we did not find fault with the council’s 
decision making in withdrawing the discount 
and grant, with it having taken all relevant 
information into account. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to train staff so they were 
aware of, and would take account of, our 
principles of good administrative practice in 
future. 

Case reference: 20 012 112 
The council decided not to pay an otherwise 
eligible business a COVID small business grant 
because it did not have an email address. We 
found this was fault. The business was entitled 
to access the fund. It did not need to apply. 

Although the pandemic meant the council 
needed to make quick decisions it should have 
been more flexible to allow access to a grant 
the business was entitled to get. The council’s 
requirement to make an online application was 
its administrative convenience. Its decision 
not to accept any other type of application 
was against our good administrative practice 
principle of being user-focused. There is no 
evidence the council attempted to consider the 
woman’s circumstances.

Page 54

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-005-499
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-012-112


Unprecedented pressure 27

School Admissions

As school admissions authorities, councils were 
given certain flexibilities and freedoms around 
how they held school admission appeals during 
the various phases of lockdown. 

We found fault with:

•	 Insufficient notice to appellants, problems 
checking if parents could use online 
technology to access panel meetings 
and failing to give parents enough time to 
consider officer evidence 

•	 Securing adequate access for everyone to 
important background information

•	 Not properly considering whether to make 
reasonable adjustments to enable access to 
virtual hearings 

Case reference: 20 001 337 
The council did not give notice of a school 
admission appeal panel to a woman, so she 
missed out on making her case at appeal. This 
was likely because the council was training 
and supervising new staff in the COVID-19 
emergency appeal working arrangements.

We were also concerned the appeal panel 
decided to hear all hearings based only on 
papers. It needed to record its reasons for not 
holding remote panels. It needed to show it 
was not taking a blanket approach but was 
open to considering individual circumstances, 
and took proper account of the needs of 
applicants who might have difficulty making 
their case in writing alone. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to review its arrangements 
and ensure it recorded reasons about whether 
to hold remote hearings individually for each 
case. 

Case reference: 20 002 869
A school admission appeal panel considered 
an appeal under the COVID-19 remote working 
arrangements. We found the council delayed 
sending the father a copy of the relevant 
papers so he did not have time to prepare his 
case. 

He asked the panel for patience at the 
hearing because of a head injury affecting 
his participation. We found the panel failed to 
properly consider whether it needed to make 
reasonable adjustments to how the meeting 
was held, so he could participate effectively. 

Recommendations to improve

Because of our investigation the council has 
reminded clerks and panel members of their 
duties under the Equality Act.

Page 55

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-001-337
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-002-869


Unprecedented pressure 28

3.	 Being open and accountable – evidence-based decisions
Our expectations 
Even in a fast-changing environment of 
emergency working, decisions affecting people’s 
lives need to be rooted in easy to access, 
transparent and relevant rules. 

Our guide said: 

•	 The basis on which decisions are made and 
resources allocated, even under emergency 
conditions, should be open and transparent. 
Any new criteria, thresholds and timescales 
should be clear to service users and staff

•	 Decision reasons should be clear, evidence 
based and where necessary explained in 
the particular context and circumstances of 
that decision 

•	 However, normal expectations on the need 
to consult service users and stakeholders 
may not be feasible or appropriate. You 
should document and explain departures 
from normal practice

What we found:
Adult social care – cases involving councils and 
care providers

We found fault with: 

•	 Confusing changes and fluctuation in care, 
sometimes without consultation required by 
the Care Act

•	 Various problems with transfers between 
hospital and care, and between different 
care providers, particularly involving 
reablement 

Principles of good administrative practice

Page 56



Unprecedented pressure 29

Case reference: 20 011 918
The council arranged an emergency 
placement in a care home for a woman, 
so she could be quickly discharged from 
hospital at the start of the pandemic. This 
was part of the Government’s ‘discharge 
to assess’ programme aimed at freeing 
up hospital capacity to prepare for COVID 
related admissions. This programme meant 
the NHS would fully fund the cost of new or 
extended out of hospital health and social care 
packages. 

The council had already begun to plan for her 
discharge before the pandemic started. We 
found that, once the ‘discharge to assess’ 
procedures came into effect, the council should 
have decided they superseded its planned 
arrangements and taken steps to arrange an 
immediate discharge. 

The woman became unwell and could not 
be discharged until later. She was eventually 
discharged from hospital without the family 
being consulted and not in line with the 
planned discharge arrangements. During 
our investigation the council agreed to waive 
charges. 

Case reference: 20 004 145 (Joint 
health and social care decision) 
A woman in her 80s needed reablement care 
(care to help her regain her independence) 
after being discharged from hospital in March 
2020 following a bone fracture.

Before being in hospital she had been able 
to live independently in her home. She went 
back into hospital and came out in May, again 
needing help with reablement. The council 
failed to explain reablement care was time 
limited, could be reviewed and stopped even 
during the COVID-19 period, and that it would 
charge for any long-term care. The clinical care 
group’s correspondence tried to be helpful 
about care charges but its references to free 
care at the end of the emergency period were 
misleading. 

Recommendations to improve

To prevent similar problems reoccurring, 
the council agreed to keep better records of 
planning conversations with service users 
and families. The clinical care group agreed 
to take action to improve the accuracy of its 
information on this matter. 

Page 57

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-011-918
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/20-004-145


Unprecedented pressure 30

Benefits and taxation – cases about financial 
support for businesses affected by COVID-19 

We investigated a lot of complaints about council 
decision making. Many concerned faulty, unclear 
or inconsistent reasons for rejecting grants or 
support. 

In particular, we found fault with: 

•	 Not properly considering evidence provided 
in support of applications

•	 Explaining reasons for supporting certain 
business sectors and not others

•	 Giving inaccurate information about criteria 
on websites

In two council tax cases decided by an initial 
investigation at our Assessment stage, we found 
the council communicated poorly about changed 
arrangements for payments and arrears during 
COVID.

Case reference: 20 000 762 
The complainant had a retail business and 
wanted to apply for support in March 2020 
when he was affected by the lockdown. 
We found, in our initial assessment of 
the complaint, that the council’s website 
inaccurately described eligibility for grants. 
It wrongly implied the man’s business was 
eligible. 

The man applied and was refused. He 
therefore had gone to wasted effort and the 
council had wrongly raised expectations, 
causing him distress. Crucially, had he known 
he was not eligible for a grant, he would 
have furloughed staff and suspended trading, 
instead of trying to keep trading. 

Recommendations to improve

The council improved the information on its 
website because of our investigation. 

Case reference: 20 001 009 
The council did not properly consider evidence 
which showed a business owner both occupied 
and used the property for his business. It 
confused two grant schemes and took account 
of irrelevant information that had no bearing 
on the man’s entitlement to support, including 
where he lived, if he had council tax arrears 
and the amount of customers his business 
appeared to have. 

In contrast the council ignored relevant 
information he provided including a utility bill. It 
failed to explain why it rejected other evidence 
provided and, when challenged, relied on 
its evidence without reference to apparently 
contradictory evidence. It did not give clear, 
evidence-based reasons for its decision.

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to train staff to ensure they 
give clear, evidence based decisions in the 
future.

Page 58

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-000-762
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-001-009


Unprecedented pressure 31

Case reference: 20 001 522 (public 
interest report) 
In March and May 2020, the government 
introduced grant schemes to support 
businesses affected by the pandemic. We were 
contacted by two small business owners who 
complained about the way the council had 
handled their grant applications. 

We found the way the council recorded how it 
decided the amount it would grant businesses 
lacked transparency. It decided it would favour 
some sectors over others but did not publish 
this information. It also gave more weight to 
the business sector than it did to the size of the 
business or their costs and losses. This was 
despite saying these were key deciding factors. 
The council therefore raised some small 
business owners’ expectations that they may 
receive grants of up to £5,000 when this was 
rarely the case. 

We found inadequate record keeping for 
explaining the council’s individual decisions. 
There was also inconsistent decision making, 
which raised concerns about the way it 
allocated its grants. At times, it made awards to 
businesses in direct contradiction to the rules 
of its scheme.

Recommendations to improve

The council scrutiny committee agreed to carry 
out a lessons learnt exercise to ensure, if it was 
asked to run a similar scheme, it would develop 
an open, transparent and consistent approach.

Case reference: 20 007 466 
(Assessment decision)
A woman paid her council tax by posting 
a cheque to the council every month. 
After lockdown the council decided to stop 
processing cheques to reduce the amount 
of people visiting its offices. It did not tell her 
about the change. 

The woman kept sending cheques. The council 
wrote to her saying it had not been able to 
process cheques but didn’t explain the situation 
clearly. It used confusing language and omitted 
reference to many attempted payments. 
Consequently, the woman faced a large unpaid 
bill she had not expected, having assumed 
cheques had been cashed. 

Case reference: 20 013 458 
(Assessment decision)
A man owned an empty home and intended 
to do work on it so he could rent it out. The 
pandemic bought work to a halt. The council 
then increased its council tax in line with its 
policy on empty properties. 

The man asked to pay less council tax because 
of the unavoidable impact of COVID restrictions 
on building works. The council failed to treat 
this as a request for a discretionary discount or 
suggest he applied for one. This stopped the 
man having the opportunity to have any such 
requests considered and the right to appeal 
decisions he disagreed with.

Page 59

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-001-522
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-007-466
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-013-458


Unprecedented pressure 32

Highways and transport – traffic management 
schemes

We considered a handful of complaints about 
how councils introduced experimental traffic 
management schemes, which COVID-19 rules 
gave greater flexibility for. 

While few in number, they highlight some important 
insights into implementing schemes effectively at 
short notice.

Case reference: 20 005 894 
The council introduced two experimental 
road traffic orders which allowed increased 
pedestrianisation as part of its response 
to COVID-19. We recognised the unique 
circumstances and government guidance 
to develop schemes favouring cyclists and 
pedestrians. We also recognised the importance 
in the guidance of councils acting quickly 
and without necessarily going through all the 
consultation normally expected.  

We found the council had appropriately 
consulted on the proposals and kept a record 
for some of its decisions. But it could not show 
why it had closed some roads to through traffic. 
It kept no record of how it considered potential 
impacts on important road users. There was no 
record of how it considered its responsibilities 
under the public sector equality duty regarding 
the impact on different users. Its consideration of 
this important matter was generic and cursory, 
particularly on older people.

Recommendations to improve 

It agreed to carry out a review of lessons learnt 
from the complaint as part of a wider review of 
its decision making and record keeping in all 
aspects of its response to the pandemic. This is 
excellent practice and worthy of consideration by 
all organisations under our jurisdiction.

Page 60

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/transport-and-highways/covid-19/20-005-894


Unprecedented pressure 33

4.	 Acting fairly and proportionately – right framework for 
decisions
Our expectations
We anticipated that emergency working would 
mean adapting thresholds, eligibility criteria, 
timescales and other foundations of good 
administration. We expected it would not be 
possible or practical to consult as widely, or for as 
long as normal, on implementing them. 

We also thought some of these changes would 
be attractive prospects for organisations in the 
long term, for example online meetings. While 
innovation, as a result of the crisis, could lead 
to improved working, we said this should not 
override the requirements of legislation, guidance 
and good administrative practice. 

Our guide said: 

•	 If you use new or revised policies and 
processes, this should not lead to arbitrary 
decisions and actions. Ensure you have 
a clear framework for fair and consistent 
decision making and operational delivery

•	 Decisions to change practice without 
consultation should be documented. You 
should commit a timescale to review any 
new practice to ensure exceptional working 
doesn’t become the new normal 

What we found
We found relatively few examples of fault 
relating to this principle. Based on the evidence 
of our investigations, it suggests organisations 
introduced new or revised policies and processes 
during COVID with due regard to good 
administrative practice.

Benefits and taxation – cases about financial 
support for businesses affected by COVID-19

In government rules covering discretionary 
support for businesses, councils were given 
considerable flexibility to decide which types of 
business to award grants. 

Even taking account of this local choice, we found 
faults with:

•	 Councils not explaining why they made 
decisions, which led to confusion and 
uncertainty

•	 Confusing eligibility (whether a business 
was entitled to a grant) with prioritisation 
(whether, given limited resources, the 
council should approve a particular 
application) 

Case reference: 20 002 489
The complaint was by a charitable business 
running conference facilities and space for 
worship. The council refused to award a grant 
for small businesses during the COVID-19 
response. It said it did not consider a charity 
could run this type of business, that the 
business was not a type listed in guidance 
and that it had unlimited discretion to refuse a 
grant. 

We found the council failed to explain its 
decisions to say the business was not eligible. 
It interpreted guidance too rigidly and did 
not think about whether the business was 
broadly similar to those set out in government 
guidance. 

Principles of good administrative practice

Page 61

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-002-489


Unprecedented pressure 34

Case reference: 20 004 146 
The complaint was about a grant application 
by a sole trader renting a serviced office with 
access to some shared office space. The 
council refused a COVID-19 support grant. We 
found it failed to properly explain its reasons 
for this. The council confused eligibility (about 
whether the business was a type eligible for 
support) with its choice about prioritisation 
(which types of business the council decided to 
give most support to). 

Government gave councils wide discretion 
about what types of business to prioritise. 
But its guidance said nothing about situations 
where businesses in shared accommodation 
were not a priority. The council did not consider 
this important issue and did not think about 
whether the business was broadly similar to 
those cited by guidance as a priority. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to improve the wording 
of any subsequent policies to ensure they 
properly separate eligibility and priority.

Adult social care 

We found some examples of changes to practice 
where consultation did not appropriately consider 
whether it was reasonable to make adjustments 
for people with disabilities.

Case reference: 20 010 883
The council decided to close its “moving 
on” service during COVID-19. This was a 
preventative drop-in service for people with 
acquired disabilities and long term health 
conditions. After consultation, it replaced face-
to-face support with online engagement events. 

We found the council did not properly consider 
the additional difficulties faced by people 
requiring adjustments. It did not consider or 
provide more accessible alternatives so they 
could take part in the consultation. It was likely 
the client group of the service would have 
problems accessing the consultation.

Recommendations to improve

In response to our investigation the council 
agreed to invite the complainant and other 
attendees to participate in consultation on the 
strategic review of the service and it is looking 
carefully at how to effectively engage with this 
group throughout consultation design. 

Page 62

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-004-146
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/other/20-010-883


Unprecedented pressure 35

Environmental services & public protection: 
Licensing

We received few complaints about licensing 
matters during COVID restrictions. This contrasts 
with the national situation regarding vehicle 
licensing delays which has been a source of 
considerable challenge and complaint. Where we 
did investigate, we typically found councils had 
acted without fault.

Case reference: 19 019 963 
The complainant was about a council decision 
not to accept a man’s application for a taxi 
license. The council decided to temporarily 
stop accepting evidence of NVQ qualifications 
as meeting training requirements during the 
early stages of the pandemic. It was entitled to 
take this approach. The council told us it would 
review this again when the situation changed. 
We decided not to investigate further. 

Environmental services & public protection: 
Social distancing

Lockdown introduced new powers for councils to 
give people advice about social distancing.

Media coverage focused on the actions of 
council COVID marshals to advise and, outside 
our jurisdiction, police officers to enforce social 
distancing. We have received very few complaints 
on this topic, despite it being high profile in the 
early stages of lockdown. 

This probably reflects a smooth introduction and 
operation of such measures and/or a recognition 
by the public that actions were proportionate and 
reasonable in the context of the pandemic.

In one case, which we did not to publish to protect 
the anonymity of the complainant, we said it was 
unlikely we could add to the outcomes of the 
council’s investigation, which said its marshals 
had likely exceeded their powers in preventing 
cycling in an area. 

Page 63

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/licensing/19-019-963


Unprecedented pressure 36

5.	 Putting things right – when it goes wrong, put it right
Our expectations
We recognised that dealing with complaints might 
have been a lower priority for a time during the 
crisis. 

But complaints can be an excellent early warning 
sign for important things going wrong. They can 
be particularly important when numerous changes 
to normal practice are taking place. 

Our guide said: 

Although complaint handling capacity will 
probably be reduced for a time, it is important 
authorities can still deal effectively with the most 
serious and high-risk issues that are brought to 
them 

Authorities should:

•	 Inform – being realistic with complainants 
about the timescale for a response to their 
complaint. Let them know if there is going to 
be a further delay

•	 Consider – try to avoid blanket delays in 
dealing with all complaints. Consider each 
complaint on its merits. If you need to 
prioritise complaint responses, consider the 
impact

•	 Explain – delays and deviations from 
processes are understandable at this time. 
Make sure you can explain the reason for 
any delay or deviation from a process to the 
complainant and you have documented your 
reasons 

•	 Plan a return to normal in complaint 
handling, making sure the crisis does 
not turn into longer term erosion of the 
organisation’s capacity to listen to concerns 

What we found
Adult social care 

We found examples of poor handling of 
complaints exacerbating the impact of faults in the 
care itself. 

Case reference: 20 011 149
A vulnerable elderly couple had a care 
package, arranged through the council, 
supporting them to live independently at 
home. This involved a deliberate pattern of 
calls throughout the day so the couple got the 
support they needed. 

During the pandemic, care workers decided to 
change the number and length of visits to fit 
their own convenience rather than the couple’s 
care needs. They also failed to provide the 
couple with the care they needed, and didn’t 
wear the necessary PPE. To make matters 
worse the couple were charged for care they 
didn’t receive. 

The council’s own investigation failed to 
properly consider the complaint. It took far too 
long and missed chances to criticise safety, 
as well as the important questions about 
overcharging. 

Recommendations to improve

Following our investigation, the council agreed 
a detailed improvement action plan for the care 
provider to learn from the mistakes and stop 
this happening in future.

Principles of good administrative practice

Page 64

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-002-489


Unprecedented pressure 37

Benefits and taxation – cases about financial 
support for businesses affected by COVID-19

We found faults in how councils had set up grant 
schemes, albeit at very short notice, particularly 
by failing to have appeal mechanisms in place 
or not explaining how they had made decisions 
when challenged through complaints. 

The stakes for individual companies were often 
high. While recognising the pressure councils 
were under to develop schemes at pace, we 
decided it was important, particularly when 
challenged, for them to justify their decisions. 

We also found faults in how councils had 
recovered grants paid in error. Again, with 
such significant implications for businesses, we 
stressed the importance of councils doing this 
fairly, communicating their decisions clearly and 
transparently. 

One case met our threshold for issuing a public 
interest report, in which we found significant 
problems with the council’s council tax support 
repayment policy and its communications to the 
public.

Case reference: 20 008 553 (public 
interest report)  
A man requested help from his council with 
paying council tax bills during the pandemic. 
This was partly because of the impact of the 
pandemic on his finances. The council agreed 
a reduced payment plan with him but, despite 
this, kept sending letters saying his payments 
were overdue. 

We found the council did not give the man 
clear information about when the payment 
plan would end or that he would face recovery 
action irrespective of keeping to payments. It 
did not explain its recovery policy and acted 
contrary to the information it did give about 
stopping further reminders. It did not suggest 
he apply for discretionary relief despite him 
telling officers he was struggling to pay bills. 
The council had no published information 
about a discretionary relief policy and does not 
appear to have any set criteria for considering 
a request.  

Recommendations to improve

We asked the council to publish a policy, 
provide training or guidance to staff about 
telling citizens about opportunities to apply for 
benefits, discounts or relief, and ensure they 
consider such requests in line with policies. 
They should also be clear about payment plans 
at the outset, including how and why they will 
end, details of any review and warning of any 
further recovery action

Case reference: 20 008 374
The complainant rented a shop focused on 
Christmas and Easter trade. He contacted the 
council to ask about whether it was eligible 
for COVID-19 support funding. He then 
complained about the council’s decision not to 
award a grant. 

We found the council’s complaint 
correspondence about its decision making was 
confusing. It gave different reasons at different 
times for the same decision. It gave different 
dates for when it considered the shop was 
open. It failed to consider relevant evidence 
about occupancy but considered irrelevant 
guidance about occupancy when making its 
decision.  

Page 65

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/council-tax/20-008-553
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-008-374


Unprecedented pressure 38

Case reference: 20 013 729
The council asked for repayment of a 
COVID-19 support grant it had paid to a man’s 
car park business. He used a small part of his 
premises for retail. We found the council was 
entitled to decide it paid him by mistake. But 
this was entirely the council’s fault. 

The council had flexibility to decide, in 
the circumstances, whether and how to 
recover money. Government guidance about 
this mainly concerned fraud which was 
demonstrably not the case here. We found the 
council did not properly consider the man’s 
circumstances and whether it was appropriate 
to recover any or all of the payment. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to learn wider lessons 
from the complaint by introducing a policy for 
considering repayment of COVID-19 business 
grants paid by mistake, taking account of our 
principles of good administrative practice. 

Children’s services – statutory complaints 
procedure

The way councils deal with complaints about 
children’s services is set out in statutory guidance, 
and follows a three-stage process. This process, 
which aims to ensure thorough, independently 
scrutinised and rigorous investigation, was 
unaffected by the Coronavirus Act and other 
changes to legislation.  

Our investigations found examples of councils 
wrongly suspending the statutory process during 
the pandemic, meaning people were denied 
access to this vital check on potentially flawed 
practice.

We have recently published a guide to learning 
from our investigations involving the children’s 
services complaints procedure. 

Case reference: 20 005 821
A man complained the council failed to provide 
his son with social care support following his 
discharge from psychiatric hospital in July 
2019. The council took longer to deal with 
the complaint because of COVID-19. It failed 
to investigate the man’s complaint under the 
statutory children’s complaints procedure. 
The council’s policy wrongly restricts itself to 
only look at complainants who are ‘customers’ 
of social services which is narrower than 
government guidance outlines. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to review its complaints 
policy to bring it into line with statutory 
guidance. 

Case reference: 20 009 341 
The complainants were registered foster 
carers with two children placed with them by 
the council. Following an incident, the council 
removed the children. They complained and 
the complaint started to be dealt with through 
the statutory children’s complaints procedure. 
The council then suspended all stage two and 
three complaint investigations because of the 
strain caused by the pandemic. 

We found that while COVID-19 had placed 
strain on all council services, there was no 
change to law or guidance about the statutory 
procedure and so its delay was fault, which 
caused injustice. 

Page 66

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-013-729
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6015/Children-s-Stat-Complaints-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6015/Children-s-Stat-Complaints-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/6015/Children-s-Stat-Complaints-F.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/disabled-children/20-005-821
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/fostering/20-009-341


Unprecedented pressure 39

Environmental services & public protection: noise 
nuisance and anti-social behaviour

Successive lockdowns meant people sometimes 
sought help from councils to deal with neighbour 
noise and anti-social behaviour. In some cases, 
council officers were temporarily redeployed from 
teams normally responsible for responding to these 
requests.  

We investigated several complaints in which 
we found councils at fault in keeping people 
sufficiently informed about what was happening, 
and in delivering services that were not part of the 
relaxation in duties during the pandemic.

Case reference: 20 010 189 (public 
interest report) 
A woman complained about noise nuisance 
and waste build-up on a neighbouring property 
during the pandemic. She said she and her 
partner had suffered unbearable noise and 
vibrations from loud music and the waste was 
attracting vermin. She sent noise logs and 
repeatedly asked the council for updates. 

We found the council did not do enough to 
investigate her concerns or keep her updated 
with progress. It had received a large increase 
in complaints during the pandemic while 
officers were affected by the need to shield 
and self-isolate. It had a backlog of around 200 
other un-investigated noise complaints, in part 
caused by the introduction of a new system. 

Recommendations to improve

As a result of our investigation it agreed to look 
into the concerns and to develop an action plan 
to ensure it investigates any ongoing noise 
complaints as soon as possible. 

Housing: homelessness

We investigated a homelessness complaint where 
the council struggled to deal with the situation 
caused by the start of the pandemic and the 
request to review its housing allocations decision 
got lost.

Case reference: 20 009 360
The complainants made three reports of  
anti-social behaviour about noise from various 
neighbours over a period of several years. In 
one case the council was unable to provide a 
service for three months because of COVID-19. 

We found that despite the involvement of the 
police, the council should have considered 
whether to act under its powers. There was no 
evidence it did so and no record of whether 
it decided the case had been handed over 
to the police. The council did not keep the 
complainants updated and allowed things to 
drift. 

Recommendations to improve

During our investigation the council took 
action to improve its services by improving 
officer access to IT systems for good case 
management and record keeping, develop 
policies on service standards, training for staff, 
including about unconscious bias for people with 
mental health issues. It has also set up better 
coordination between anti-social behaviour 
and environmental protection teams to share 
information and good practice on joint cases. 

Page 67

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/noise/20-010-189
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/antisocial-behaviour/20-009-360


Unprecedented pressure 40

Case reference: 20 009 245
A woman asked the council for help with her 
homelessness before the pandemic. She was 
living in a caravan on a residential site that had 
closed. She couldn’t find an alternative. The 
council helped with advice about alternatives 
and referred her to a charity which arranged 
emergency accommodation under the national 
initiative to help homeless people during the 
pandemic: ‘Everyone In’. 

Neither the charity nor council told the woman 
about the cost of this, which she did not 
discover until mid-June. We said we would 
normally have expected information about 
costs but the council was struggling to cope 
at the start of the pandemic. Therefore, we 
decided its lack of records about whether she 
was advised about costs was not fault.   

However, we found the council should have 
treated her subsequent complaint as a request 
for a review of its housing register decision. 
Its failure to do so meant the woman suffered 
uncertainty. 

It was not clear whether or how the council 
considered if her living in a touring caravan 
without a year-round pitch should have been 
treated as owning a home for the purposes of 
its policy. 

Recommendations to improve

The council agreed to remind staff to give 
clear information in housing register decisions 
about how to request a review of the decision. 
It will also remind them to consider whether a 
complaint should be treated as a request for a 
review of a housing decision so it can respond 
appropriately. 

Planning enforcement

We investigated some complaints involving 
services that councils have considerable choice 
about whether or not to take action. Planning 
enforcement must be investigated but councils 
have discretion about taking subsequent action. 
Enforcement was therefore clearly a lower priority 
for many councils at the peak of the pandemic.

In one, unpublished, case we found the council 
failed to investigate someone’s concerns about a 
neighbouring development during the pandemic. 
The council was entitled to decide action was not 
‘expedient’ during the pandemic but should have 
explained this and also explained whether, when 
the impact of COVID had abated, it would return 
to the case.

Case reference: 20 013 791
During the pandemic a neighbour installed 
noisy equipment near the shared boundary, 
without seeking planning permission. The 
council was dealing with a backlog of potential 
planning enforcement breach investigations 
caused by the impact of the pandemic on 
staffing.

More than a year passed from the time the 
council received this complaint. We found 
that even though the pandemic’s impact was 
inevitable, this delay was significant, causing 
injustice. During that time the man affected 
by noise had to keep making complaints and 
reports, not knowing what, if anything, was 
happening. 

Page 68

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/covid-19/20-009-245
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/enforcement/20-013-791


Unprecedented pressure 41

6.	 Seeking continuous improvement – learning from the crisis
Our expectations 
This principle is about using the learning from 
working during a crisis to make improvements. 
Complaints are often a source of valuable 
feedback, highlighting where systems, processes 
and procedures need improving. 

Being forced to work in different ways can spark 
innovation. Having challenged assumptions 
about what works, the option remains to consider 
making those changes permanent, or returning 
to normal practice to ensure people get the right 
service.  

This was one reason we emphasised the 
importance of organisations continuing to devote 
adequate resources to complaint handling, even 
when the pressure of dealing with the pandemic 
was unprecedented. 

This principle also recognises the impact 
sustained crisis working can have on 
organisations. Time horizons can narrow to 
deal with the immediate pressure. Capacity and 
resources normally devoted to medium and 
longer-term planning can be lost. 

Our guide said:

•	 Continue to use complaints as an effective 
and immediate form of feedback during the 
crisis. Complaints can continue to tell you 
where new challenges are developing and 
where things are going wrong 

•	 While most staff focus on short term 
responses to the crisis, keep a longer-term 
view to ensure the authority is prepared for 
downstream consequences and plans for 
recovery and normalisation 

•	 In a time of rapid change, try to ensure you 
don’t lose critical organisational memory. 
Staff used outside of their normal areas 
during the crisis will likely return afterwards, 
risking loss of critical records and memory 

What we found
We are unlikely to receive complaints about 
organisations not following this principle. 

However, where we identify faults that have caused 
injustice to complainants or potentially others, we 
make recommendations to help improve those 
services. These service improvements have the 
power to benefit many people. 

By taking a proactive approach to learning 
from all complaints, organisations can benefit 
from many more examples beyond the small 
subsection that reach us. The link between 
complaint handling and service performance 
should be hard-wired. 

Below are examples of some significant service 
improvements councils and care providers 
agreed to implement in COVID-19 investigations 
(some are featured in the earlier case studies). 
Some, we would make in non-COVID complaints. 
Others are a direct consequence of having to 
quickly adapt ways of working. All represent the 
opportunity to ensure learning is embedded and 
not needed to be relearnt. 

We upload service improvement 
recommendations for every council to our 
Councils Performance Map each week

Principles of good administrative practice

Page 69

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance


Unprecedented pressure 42

Adult social care 

•	 (20 010 666) The care provider should 
ensure staff identify people approaching the 
end of their lives, before they are at the very 
end of their lives, and put appropriate plans 
in place

•	 (20 001 450) The care provider should 
remind staff of process for obtaining urgent, 
end of life medication, including alerting 
community nurses when medicines are in 
the building

•	 (20 004 806) The care provider should 
produce an action plan to ensure it gives 
notice for terminating contracts to the right 
person and reviews care packages when it 
has problems delivering them

•	 (20 004 275) The care provider needs to 
put staff training in place on making best 
interests decisions under the Mental Health 
Act 2005

•	 (20 007 059) The council will ensure officers 
do risk assessments and record them before 
visiting people in their homes and take 
appropriate personal, protective equipment 
with them to cover all possibilities

•	 (20 004 448) The council will identify action 
it needs to take to ensure it:
	- does person centred risk assessments 

before deciding someone’s needs can be 
met at another care home

	- provides people with an indicative 
personal budget

	- responds to request for information about 
third party top ups for care home fees

	- avoids delay sending a care and support 
plan

Education and Children’s Services

•	 (20 000 632) The council will remind 
staff and providers of the need to ensure 
preparation for adulthood is discussed at 
annual reviews from Year 9 onwards

•	 (20 005 883) The council will check it sends 
new and amended EHC Plans to education 
settings and that provision is being 
delivered. It will ensure annual reviews are 
completed on time, especially at key stages 
in the young person’s education

•	 (20 005 038 and many similar others) The 
council will ensure education appeal panels 
and clerks give clear reasons for decisions 
recorded in the clerk’s notes and are set out 
in the decision letter

•	 (20 010 974) The council will review its 
policies and procedures on alternative 
education and children missing education to 
ensure reminding staff about duty to arrange 
alternative education when children are not 
receiving suitable education for reasons 
other than illness

Support for businesses and council tax

•	 (20 003 011) The council will ensure that 
any future grant scheme gives applicants 
a right of review or appeal if they disagree 
with decisions

•	 (20 013 729) The council will introduce a 
policy for repayment of business grants 
paid in error, taking account of good 
administrative practice when considering 
debts caused by the council’s mistake

•	 (20 008 332) The council will review its 
discretionary rate relief policy to clarify 
what is meant by supporting vulnerable 
organisations, advise officers about how 
they should consider alternative sources 
of financial support, clarify the procedure 
for assessing requests and explain what 
happens if the ratepayer is dissatisfied with 
the outcome

Page 70

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-010-666
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-010-666
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-806
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-275
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-059
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-448
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-000-632
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-005-883
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-005-038
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-010-974
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-003-011
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-013-729
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-008-332


Unprecedented pressure 43

•	 (20 008 553) The council will publish 
a council tax discretionary policy on its 
website including an appeal process. 
It will train staff to inform customers of 
opportunities to apply for benefits, discount 
or relief and remind staff about giving 
customers clear information, including about 
appeals and recovery action 

•	 (20 001 522 and many similar others) The 
council scrutiny committee will run a lessons 
learnt exercise into the use of discretionary 
business grants to ensure future schemes 
are open, transparent and consistent in 
application

•	 (20 006 486) The council will ensure staff 
have due regard to the public sector equality 
duty in decision making (the complaint 
involved a decision to stop setting up market 
stalls during the pandemic) and handle 
complaints in line with its policy

Noise nuisance and anti-social behaviour 

•	 (20 010 189) The council will write to all 
people with live noise complaints checking 
if they are still experiencing problems and 
devise an action plan to investigate any 
ongoing noise complaints

Housing

•	 (20 004 585) The council will give staff 
in housing allocations and options teams 
refresher training, to ensure they can 
identify information from potential applicants 
that triggers various Housing Act duties

•	 (20 009 245) The council will remind staff 
to give clear information in decision letters 
about how to request a review, and whether 
complaints should be treated as a review 
of a housing decision so it can respond 
appropriately

 

Other

•	 (20 005 385) An allotment complaint about 
access to the allotment during lockdown 
revealed the council was unclear about its 
responsibility for these services. It agreed 
to review its procedures and brief allotment 
societies about good complaint handling 
and signposting to us 

Page 71

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/council-tax/20-008-553
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-001-522
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-006-486
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/noise/20-010-189
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/20-004-585
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/covid-19/20-009-245
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/other-categories/covid-19/20-005-385


Unprecedented pressure 44

Questions for councillors and scrutiny committees

Locally elected councillors have the democratic 
mandate to scrutinise the way councils carry out 
their functions and hold them to account. 

Although care providers do not have similar 
arrangements, their boards of directors or 
appropriate management bodies can similarly 
keep oversight of practice. Councils with 
social care responsibilities also can shape and 
influence their local care market through contract 
management. 

We are pleased many organisations responded 
to our decisions about them by incorporating 

these in fundamental reviews of practice, to learn 
lessons from their experience of COVID-19. This 
has been a particularly common and welcomed 
response for complaints that have involved 
new and emerging organisational practice – for 
example councils delivering new grant schemes 
at a fast pace. 

We have identified some questions and 
approaches that elected members, and in 
particular leaders and scrutiny committees, can 
pose about the learning points identified from the 
case studies in this report.

These questions are also at the heart of our own reflection on our practice during the pandemic. 

1.	 Is there the opportunity for your organisation to run a ‘lessons learnt’ exercise related to its 
response to COVID? 

2.	 Is there any learning from the pandemic about rapid development of new policies, for example:

a.	 How are they promoted externally and to frontline staff? 
b.	 How is their development documented – are there reasons for key decisions, for example 	
	 about prioritisation? 
c.	 How are they consulted on proportionately and effectively, particularly considering the 		
	 needs of people with protected characteristics?

3.	 What lessons could be learnt around prioritising workloads – are staff appropriately 
empowered to make decisions about this in crisis working conditions? 

4.	 Did the organisation get the balance right between the need for rapid, often blanket, 
application of new rules, and making decisions that reflect personal circumstances?

5.	 Were online and other rapid communication tools used consistently, quickly and accurately to 
give up-to-date information about eligibility, timescales and appeal rights during the crisis? 

6.	 Did the organisation give appropriate weight to key safeguards, such as the public sector 
equality duty, in emergency decision making?  

7.	 Did the organisation (where appropriate) have the right levers and ability to influence the work 
of key contractors and others delivering services on its behalf during the crisis? Were contracts 
sufficiently robust and flexible to accommodate crisis working? 

8.	 Was the organisation able to effectively redeploy staff to ensure service delivery was 
maintained as far as possible? What impact did this have on the services staff were taken from 
and how was this managed?

9.	 What lessons can the organisation learn about introducing and operating business grant 
schemes, including offering effective review of decisions and a means of dealing with 
complaints?

Page 72



Appendix

Page 73



Unprecedented pressure 46

Appendix 

Further case studies
Below are some other relevant cases used to 
compile our findings in this report. They still only 
represent a snapshot of all the investigations we 
have completed on COVID related complaints. 

You can browse and search for all our published 
decisions at www.lgo.org.uk/decisions and use 
the ‘COVID-19’ filter in the subject area field to 
narrow your search.

1.	 Getting it right
Adult social care 

•	 Case reference: 20 002 828
Mrs X complained the care home failed to look 
after her father, Mr Y, properly, resulting in him 
spending time in hospital. The care home was 
ill-equipped to deal with the demands arising 
from COVID-19. It failed to meet Mr Y’s needs 
or identify the fact he was unwell. The provider 
needs to apologise to Mrs X and pay financial 
redress to Mr Y.

•	 Case reference: 20 003 507
Mr X complained the care home, where the 
council placed his mother, Mrs Y, failed to look 
after her properly during the first COVID-19 
lockdown before her death in May 2020. The care 
home’s records of the care provided for Mrs Y are 
inadequate, which leaves doubt over whether it 
was meeting all her needs properly. The council 
should apologise to Mr X and Mr Y for the 
unnecessary distress this has caused them.

•	 Case reference: 20 006 336
Ms D complained the provider was negligent 
when caring for her late father at the care home. 
We have found fault causing injustice. The care 
provider should apologise to Ms D.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 011 
Mr X complained the council failed to deal 
properly with him when he became homeless and 
failed to meet his eligible care needs. The council 
has apologised for the lack of communication 
from its Housing team. However, it has not 
addressed the failure to deal properly with Mr X’s 
care needs, including a failure to meet them for 
several days. It needs to apologise, pay financial 
redress and improve its working practices.  

•	 Case reference: 20 004 090
The council’s delay in conducting an Occupation 
Therapy assessment of Mrs X was fault. As a 
result, Mr X cannot know if his wife’s last weeks 
could have been less painful and more dignified. 
The council has agreed to apologise and pay Mr 
X £250 in recognition of this injustice.

Special Educational Needs

•	 Case reference: 20 000 627
Mr X complained that the council failed to ensure 
his son received all the support he should have 
had under his Education Health and Care Plan, 
including during the COVID-19 pandemic. We do 
not find the council was at fault in the way it dealt 
with the special education provision, but it did 
not record or provide enough information to Mr 
X about what support would be provided. It has 
agreed to apologise to Mr X.

•	 Case reference: 20 001 263
There was fault by the council in the Education, 
Health and Care needs assessment and planning 
process for Y. This fault caused Y a loss of 
special education provision. It also caused Mrs 
X, his mother, a financial loss and avoidable 
distress. The council will apologise and make 
payments described in this statement.

Page 74

www.lgo.org.uk/decisions
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-002-828
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/20-003-507
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-006-336
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-011
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/disabled-facilities-grants/20-004-090
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-000-627
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/20-001-263


Unprecedented pressure 47

•	 Case reference: 20 000 632
We upheld Mrs X’s complaint about how the 
council has handled her daughter Y’s education, 
health and care provision. There was fault in 
the council’s approach to Y’s annual reviews 
and preparation for adulthood. The council 
also failed to explain what provision would be 
delivered when colleges closed to most learners 
in response to COVID-19. These faults caused an 
injustice to Mrs X and Y, and the council agreed 
to take action to remedy this. 

•	 Case reference: 20 010 974
Mr X complained that the council did not do 
enough to provide suitable education for his son, 
D, or get him back on the school roll after he 
withdrew D from school to home educate him. 
Mr X told the council he did not want to home 
educate and had only withdrawn D because 
he did not think the school could keep him safe 
from the risk of COVID-19. We find that while 
the council made considerable efforts to try and 
ensure D had a school place, it should have 
brought matters to a head sooner. The council 
was at fault in failing to offer alternative education 
while it was trying to resolve the matter. The 
council has agreed a suitable remedy.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 260
Mrs B complained the council did not secure 
suitable education provision for her son and 
delayed reviewing his Education, Health and Care 
plan. Mrs B said her son missed education and 
EHC provision. We found fault with the council for 
failing to secure education and Education, Health 
and Care provision for C. We also found delays 
in the council’s EHC process. The council will 
make a financial payment to Mrs B to remedy the 
injustice caused by these faults and make service 
improvements. 

Homelessness

•	 Case reference: 20 000 450
Mr X complained about the standard of 
accommodation the council provided during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, and about failings in the 
way it handled his homelessness application. 
The council was at fault for a delay in responding 
to Mr X’s concerns about the accommodation, 
which it later accepted fell below its standards. It 
was also at fault for failing to review its decision 
that Mr X was not in priority need. It has already 
apologised, made a payment of £500 and 
taken action to prevent recurrence so no further 
recommendations are needed.

•	 Case reference: 20 008 082 
Ms X complained the council failed to deal with 
her homelessness case and about its poor 
communications with her during that time. The 
council was at fault when it continually failed over 
several months to take any action in relation to 
Ms X’s case. The council has agreed to pay Ms X 
£400 to remedy the injustice it caused her. It has 
also agreed to provide proof of the steps it has 
taken to prevent a similar recurrence of the fault 
in future.

Page 75

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-000-632
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-010-974
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/20-007-260
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/covid-19/20-000-450
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/homelessness/20-008-082


Unprecedented pressure 48

2.	 Being service-user focused
Adult social care 

•	 Case reference: 20 000 794
Mrs X complained the care home where the 
council had placed her brother, Mr Y, failed 
to take him back when he was ready to leave 
hospital at the end of March 2020, resulting in him 
spending too long in hospital, catching COVID-19, 
and spending time in another care home before 
moving to alternative permanent accommodation. 
The council and the care home should not 
have allowed Mr Y to become the victim of their 
dispute over the cost of meeting his needs, which 
prevented him from leaving hospital when he was 
ready to do so. 

•	 Case reference: 20 004 275
Mrs X complained the care provider failed to 
deal properly with family contact arrangements 
at its care home during COVID-19, resulting in a 
decline in Mrs Y’s mental health and avoidable 
distress to herself. The provider has not dealt 
with this matter properly, resulting in avoidable 
distress. It needs to apologise, pay financial 
redress and take action to prevent similar 
problems from arising again.

•	 Case reference: 20 008 335
We upheld Mrs D’s complaint about a failure to 
provide Mr E with care and support through his 
direct payment between July and November 
2020. There was also fault in the council’s 
complaint handling. The fault caused Mrs D 
avoidable time and trouble and a financial loss to 
another family member who transported Mr E to 
his day centre. The council will apologise, make 
Mrs D a symbolic payment and refund the family 
member their costs.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 918
Ms C complained about the way the council 
responded to her request for help and advice, 
when her main carer (her mother) potentially had 
Covid. We found fault with the way the council 
responded to this, which caused Ms C distress. 
The council has accepted this and agreed to 
provide an apology to Ms C, pay her a financial 
remedy for distress, and share the lessons 
learned with staff.

•	 Case reference: 20 008 131
Ms X complained the council failed to exercise 
enough flexibility over the use of direct payments 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. The council 
failed to follow government guidance on Using 
direct payments during the coronavirus outbreak 
when Ms X asked to use her son’s direct 
payments to employ a live-in carer. This left 
her providing full-time care for longer than was 
necessary. The council has agreed to apologise 
and pay financial redress.

•	 Case reference: 20 012 222
Ms X complained about the way the council dealt 
with her request for a Disabled Facilities Grant. 
We find the council was at fault for delay in 
arranging the Occupational Therapy assessment. 
There were also faults in its communication with 
Ms X. The council has agreed to apologise to Ms 
X for frustration caused. It is already writing an 
action plan to address Disabled Facilities Grant 
wait times.

Page 76

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-000-794
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-275
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/20-008-335
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/20-007-918
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-008-131
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-012-222


Unprecedented pressure 49

•	 Case reference: 20 008 745
Miss X complained the care provider handled her 
mother, Mrs Z, roughly during a visit. Miss X also 
complained the care provider banned her and her 
family from visiting and then gave Mrs Z notice to 
leave the care home without proper reasons. We 
cannot come to a conclusion on whether Mrs Z 
was handled roughly. The care provider was not 
at fault for how it decided to ban Miss X. It was 
at fault for banning the rest of the family and for 
giving Mrs Z notice. It has agreed to apologise to 
Miss X and make sure it has a process in place 
for dealing with difficult relationships. 

•	 Case reference: 21 001 093
There was fault in Mrs Z’s care in a care home. 
Staff did not act in line with COVID-19 guidance 
and record keeping, and communication was 
not in line with accepted standards. The council 
will apologise and take action described in this 
statement.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 431
Mrs D complained about the care provider’s 
actions during the COVID-19 pandemic while her 
late mother was a resident at its care home. We 
have found the care provider was at fault for not 
facilitating an indoor end of life visit for Mrs D and 
her brother. This has caused significant injustice 
to them as they missed an opportunity to spend 
time with their mother before she died. The care 
provider has agreed to apologise to them.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 576
Mrs F complained on behalf of her mother that 
a council-funded care home failed to allow her 
to visit her late father when he was at the end of 
his life during the COVID-19 pandemic. We have 
found fault causing injustice. The council has 
agreed to apologise to Mrs F’s mother.

•	 Case reference: 20 007 614 (joint health 
and social care decision)

Miss B and Mrs C complained about the care 
their late grandmother Mrs P received in a  
council-funded care home and from district 
nurses. Failings in Mrs P’s care by the home 
and district nurses led to her developing severe 
pressure ulcers in the last weeks of her life. 
The council did not investigate key issues in the 
complaint. The organisations should apologise 
and make a payment to Miss B and Mrs C to 
acknowledge the distress they suffered. The 
council should also ensure the home makes 
service improvements.  

•	 Case reference: 20 006 857 
Ms X complained the council delayed dealing 
with her sister Miss Y’s request to move care 
homes. The council was at fault. It failed to 
properly consider Miss Y’s preferences and 
failed to provide any suitable alternative options 
to meet Miss Y’s needs. It failed to acknowledge 
Ms X was not willing to support her sister long 
term. This caused Ms X and Miss Y uncertainty 
and frustration and placed Ms X under significant 
strain as she had to care for her sister far longer 
than she expected to. The council has agreed 
to apologise to Ms X and Miss Y and make a 
payment to recognise the impact the faults had 
on them. It has also agreed to progress Miss Y’s 
move to a care home as soon as possible. 

Page 77

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-008-745
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/21-001-093
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-431
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-576
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/residential-care/20-007-614
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/assessment-and-care-plan/20-006-857


Unprecedented pressure 50

Support for businesses

•	 Case reference: 20 007 792
Ms D complained the council did not award her 
business a Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant 
to help with the impact of COVID-19. We find 
the council at fault as it did not properly consider 
statements made by Ms D in support of her 
request, nor consider using its discretion to pay 
her a grant. This caused Ms D uncertainty. The 
council accepts these findings and has agreed to 
reconsider Ms D’s request for a grant.  

•	 Case reference: 20 001 593
There was fault in how the council considered 
whether the complainant’s music business 
was eligible for the expanded retail discount. 
It misinterpreted government guidance about 
tutoring, and also did not consider whether other 
aspects of the business meant it should be 
classified as ‘retail’. The council has agreed to 
review its decision on these points and offer the 
complainant a financial remedy for his time and 
trouble.

School admissions

•	 Case reference: 20 001 119
Mrs Q complained an independent appeals panel 
had failed to properly consider her appeal for a 
school place for her son, R. This had caused the 
family significant distress. The investigation found 
evidence of fault and the school has agreed to 
hold a fresh appeal.

•	 Case reference: 20 004 888 
There was fault in the process followed by the 
independent appeal panel, for admissions to Year 
7 of the school in September 2020. This did not 
cause the complainant a personal injustice, but 
it may have affected other appeals. However, 
we consider it would be disproportionate to 
recommend a repeat of the appeals process 
for the 2020 intake, and the School has already 
changed its appeal process for its 2021 intake, 
which means the same faults should not recur. 

•	  Case reference: 20 002 695
Miss B complained the admissions authority did 
not carry out her son’s school placement appeal 
correctly and it was refused. We found fault with 
the admissions authority causing injustice. The 
admissions authority has agreed to apologise and 
offer a fresh appeal to remedy this injustice.

Page 78

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-007-792
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-001-593
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-001-119
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-002-695
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/covid-19/20-002-695


Unprecedented pressure 51

3.	 Being open and accountable
Adult social care 

•	 Case reference: 20 001 041 
Mr X complained the council failed to meet his 
son’s care needs since shortly after the country 
went into lockdown because of COVID-19. The 
council was at fault for telling Mr X it would be 
able to reinstate his son’s pre-COVID-19 respite 
care when that was not possible. The council 
needs to apologise and recognise the lack of trust 
this caused.

•	 Case reference: 20 008 020
Mr X complained the council charged him for a 
period of reablement care which it should not 
have, after he was discharged from hospital. The 
council accepted it did not make it clear to Mr X 
which care he would need to pay for and agreed 
to refund the care charges he disputed. We were 
satisfied this remedied the injustice to Mr X so we 
completed our investigation.

•	 Case reference: 20 004 448
Ms X complained the council failed to assess her 
father’s (Mr Y’s) needs properly, failed to identify 
an indicative personal budget or agree a final 
budget. The council failed to meet Mr Y’s needs 
after his capital fell below £23,250 and failed to 
assess the risk to him of moving to another care 
home. This left him paying for his own care when 
the council should have been helping to fund it. It 
should refund Mr Y, apologise to his daughter and 
pay her financial recompense. 

•	 Case reference: 20 010 261 
Mrs X complained the council failed to advise 
her that COVID-19 NHS funding for her mother, 
Mrs Y’s care had ended, or that it had completed 
an assessment of her needs. The council was at 
fault as it did not share a copy of the assessment 
with Mrs X and delayed telling her the funding 
had ended. This meant Mrs Y avoidably incurred 
care home fees. If the council had given clear, 
timely information she would have moved in 
with Mrs X sooner. The council has agreed to 
apologise to Mrs X and to refund some of the 
care fees to Mrs Y.

Homelessness

•	 Case reference: 20 008 716
On the basis of information seen, there was 
no fault in the way the council handled Mr X’s 
temporary accommodation from late March 2020, 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. It was at fault 
for not informing him of the service charges for 
alternative accommodation provided in early July 
2020, for which it has apologised and waived the 
charges. This was an appropriate remedy.

Planning 

•	 Case references: 20 001 070 
and 20 001 071 

Mr B and Ms C complained about the council’s 
handling of two planning applications. They also 
complained about the council’s handling of their 
complaints about that. We find no significant 
injustice was caused by the handling of the first 
planning application, and no fault in the handling 
of the second planning application. We find there 
was fault in complaint handling, causing injustice 
for which the council has agreed to apologise.     

Page 79

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-001-041
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-008-020
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-004-448
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/charging/20-010-261
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/housing/covid-19/20-008-716
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/20-001-070
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/20-001-071


Unprecedented pressure 52

•	 Case reference: 20 005 585 
Mrs C complained the council failed to properly 
consider a planning application for a house built 
close to her home and tell her a panel meeting 
had been cancelled. We found no fault with the 
council’s decision making process but did find it at 
fault for failing to tell Mrs C about the cancellation 
of the meeting. The council has agreed to 
apologise to Mrs C and pay her £100 for raised 
expectations and frustration and for putting her to 
the time and trouble of complaining.

4.	 Acting fairly and proportionately 
Business support 

•	 Case reference: 20 000 929  
Mr X complained the council did not follow a 
proper decision making process and wrongly 
refused his business a grant, causing distress, 
financial loss and redundancies. We find fault in 
the council’s decision making process causing 
uncertainty. We recommend the council provides 
an apology, makes a payment, reviews its 
decision and acts to prevent recurrence.

•	  Case reference: 21 000 122 
Mr B complained the council misled him into 
thinking his business would receive a grant to 
support businesses impacted by COVID-19. We 
upheld the complaint finding the council sent Mr 
B a series of emails which caused confusion and 
uncertainty. The council accepted these findings 
and we set out the action it has agreed to remedy 
that injustice

•	 Case reference: 20 011 367
Mr X complained the council wrongly refused 
him a small business grant, causing financial 
difficulties for his business. We find no fault 
in the council’s decision to refuse a grant but 
we find fault in its communications with Mr X. 
We recommend it provide an apology, time 
and trouble payment and take steps to prevent 
recurrence.

Page 80

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/planning/planning-applications/20-005-585
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-000-929
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/21-000-122
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-011-367https:/www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/benefits-and-tax/covid-19/20-011-367


Unprecedented pressure 53

5.	 Putting things right
Adult social care

•	 Case reference: 20 007 202
Mrs F complained about council-commissioned 
homecare during the first COVID-19 lockdown. 
We have found fault which caused Mrs F distress 
and to miss out on care. The council has agreed 
to apologise to Mrs F and make her a payment to 
remedy this.

Children’s services

•	 Case reference: 20 002 763 
The complainant said the council had failed to 
start a Stage 2 investigation, under the statutory 
Children Act complaints procedure. This has 
caused avoidable frustration. We find fault 
causing injustice by the council. The council has 
now agreed to undertake a Stage 2 investigation 
and to apologise to the complainant.

Environmental services – anti-social behaviour

•	 Case reference: 20 001 614
The council made decisions about noise 
nuisance and anti-social behaviour without any 
investigation process. However, the council 
moved tenants to new accommodation, which 
resolved the issues quicker than if it had taken 
formal action. This removed the impact on the 
complainant of loud music and intimidating 
behaviour. The council will work closely with 
future tenants, has given a single point of contact 
for complaints about this property, and will meet 
the neighbouring residents once the restrictions of 
the COVID-19 pandemic are lifted.

•	 Case reference: 20 009 097
Mr X complained about the council’s refusal to 
undertake an anti-social behaviour case review. 
The council failed to properly apply the local 
case review threshold and was responsible for 
delays in responding to Mr X’s application. The 
council agreed to apologise to Mr X and review its 
processes. 

Page 81

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/covid-19/20-007-202
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/children-s-care-services/child-protection/20-002-763
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/environment-and-regulation/antisocial-behaviour/20-001-614
20009097


Local Government and Social Care Local Government and Social Care 
OmbudsmanOmbudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH

Phone:	 0300 061 0614
Web: 	 www.lgo.org.uk
Twitter:	 @LGOmbudsman

Page 82

www.lgo.org.uk
http://www.twitter.com/lgombudsman


 

Unprecedented Pressure: Learning from complaints about council and care provider actions during the Covid-19 pandemic 

LGSCO Key Questions (February 2022) Service area / response 

Is there the opportunity for your organisation to run a ‘lessons 
learnt’ exercise related to its response to Covid-19?  
 
 
 

Adults Social Care management team were involved with a GM exercise to review 
their response to Covid-19. (copy of final position to follow) 
Additionally we are planning workshops with managers and staff to reflect on 
learning from the pandemic which will inform the surge plan and business continuity 
plans for the future.  
 

Is there any learning from the pandemic about rapid 
development of new policies, for example: 

a. How are they promoted externally and to frontline staff? 
b. How is their development documented – are there 

reasons for key decisions, for example about 
prioritisation? 

c. How are they consulted on proportionately and 
effectively, particularly considering the needs of people 
with protected characteristics? 
 
 
 

It was important that new guidance was available for all, however it was also crucial 
that this was delivered in ways that was accessible to the people charged with 
dealing with the guidance. 
 
Development of policies and the more efficient methods of governance to support 
implementation was effective and efficient. An example is how working with Human 
Resources we were able to implement fast track recruitment processes and ensure 
they were processed through key decision and governance quickly to support 
increases in staffing capacity. 
 
All changes to policies and guidance were reviewed and communicated to internal 
and external agencies using a staff briefing system. An internal and external briefing 
document was sent out weekly to ensure that agencies and partners were updated 
on any changes. 
 
Plans were put in place to implement policy change quickly if prioritisation through 
Care Act Easements was required. This was supported by the more efficient 
methods of governance. However there was no need to progress this and implement 
policy changes.  The PSW worked closely with legal to develop guidance to support 
proportionate decision making based on the Ethical Framework for decision making. 
This was aimed at senior leaders in terms of strategic decision making and frontline 
staff making day to day decisions. The Guidance was shared with our partners such 
as the CCG, ICFT and providers.  
 
  

P
age 83



 

What lessons could be learnt around prioritising workloads – 
are staff appropriately empowered to make decisions about 
this in crisis working conditions?  
 
 
 
 
 

It was important that staff were able to make “on the spot” decisions, most particular 
the ability of front lime managers to deploy resources effectively with immediate 
effect. We did not implement easements during the pandemic although we did make 
decisions around prioritisation based on government guidance at the time. An 
example would be that we did not close day services but asked managers to 
prioritise access and outreach to those individuals who had complex needs and or 
who were potentially at risk of carer breakdown. This was supported on a more 
senior level via the daily Silver Command meetings that involved senior managers 
who would be able to conduct daily appraisals of the situation and make informed 
decisions in a timely manner. 
 
As the pandemic evolved and risk-mitigating measures increased such as PPE, we 
reviewed and updated guidance regularly for staff in the social work teams in terms 
of making proportionate decisions regarding assessing risk re: visiting people at 
home or make virtual contact.   
 

Did the organisation get the balance right between the need for 
rapid, often blanket, application of new rules, and making 
decisions that reflect personal circumstances? 
 
 
 
 
 

New guidance was a continual feature of the ongoing pandemic. It was crucial to 
ensure that personal circumstances were considered in particular cases, for 
example ensuring those at end of life were supported appropriately with their families 
and friends. Additionally we chose not to close day services but to reduce activity to 
manage infection control whilst ensuring individuals and their carers needs were 
met. This reduced the risk of carer breakdown but also offered support to the most 
complex individuals either in the day service facility or via outreach in the community. 
 
In some circumstances this could not be facilitated for example in the lockdown of 
care homes where we needed to apply new rules to protect the most vulnerable, and 
there was little scope for flexibility.  
 
Hospital discharge was also a challenging area to offer choice and control to all. 
There were rapidly changing policies and procedures in this area as well as pressure 
in terms of increased demand. Discharges to care homes increased and choice was 
not always facilitated this was due to the pressures placed to discharge promptly 
and also availability of placements due to outbreak management in the care homes.   
 
Additionally it was important to ensure vulnerable groups were supported to receive 
the vaccine, ie individual clinics for those with learning disabilities.  
 

P
age 84



 

Did the organisation give appropriate weight to key safeguards, 
such as the public sector equality duty, in emergency decision-
making? 
 
 
 
 

Safeguarding and ensuring inequalities were addressed as part of the response. 
This in particular included those who were at risk due to complex health issues 
relating to disabilities and mental health issues due to extended periods of isolation 
and shielding. Silver command did consider equality duties in decision making as 
this was often challenged during the pandemic particularly around care home 
guidance. Managers kept written logs of key decisions made at daily meetings. 

Did the organisation (where appropriate) have the right levers 
and ability to influence the work of key contractors and others 
delivering services on its behalf during the crisis? Were 
contracts sufficiently robust and flexible to accommodate crisis 
working? 
 
 
 

ASC worked closely to support the providers of care homes and home care. Daily 
check calls and twice weekly whole system meetings to pick up key issues, including 
management of outbreaks and continual updating of guidance. This is included the 
use of digital technology to ensure clinical oversight. Our relationships with key 
contractors are robust and very much based on collaborative working which helps 
in terms of flexibly responding to a rapidly changing operating environment.  
 
Communications were open with those organisations that were delivering services 
on our behalf and information and guidance was provided on via briefings as 
necessary. Commissioners were available, and any key decisions were supported 
by daily silver command meetings. 
 
We worked collaboratively with service providers to assist in flexing capacity to meet 
demand in terms of staffing and support. 
 

Was the organisation able to effectively redeploy staff to 
ensure service delivery was maintained as far as possible? 
What impact did this have on the services staff where taken 
from and how was this managed? 
 
 
 

Workforce pressures were very acute during the pandemic response. High levels of 
staff isolating. Daily decisions were needed to ensure priority services were 
delivered and staff were redeployed where necessary. Staff were redeployed from 
non-essential / non-urgent areas of operations to support front line services. A 
coordinated response to staffing support, the provision of PPE and testing were just 
some examples of this.  
 
Another example was the redeployment of social workers and assessors to support 
hospital discharge at peak times during the pandemic. The impact was that some 
non- essential functions were stopped to facilitate redeployment. There were no 
detrimental effects reported although some non-essential strategic plans were 
delayed / paused during lockdown periods. There have been recent concerns about 
staff wellbeing connected with the extended length of the pandemic. These staff 
welfare issues are part of our HR/OD response for the future.   

 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Apr 2025 Apr 2030

Reduce rate of smoking at time of delivery V1 % Smoking at time of delivery (CCG) 10.5% 9.5% 8.80% Q2 2021/2022 i 10.50%
All expectant mothers to be supported 

to be smoke free at the time of delivery

V2 (LUI) % achieving a 'good' level of development 65.7% 66.9% 71.80% 2019 h 75% All children start school ready to learn

V3 (LUI) % achieving expected level in Phonics decoding 79.0% 78.0% 82.00% 2019 i

Children attending 'good' and 'outstanding' early years 

settings
V4 % 3 & 4 year olds at 'good' or 'outstanding' EY settings 87.99% N/A

Spring Term 

2021/22
98%

All children to attend good or 

outstanding early years settings

Take up nursery at 2 Years V5 (GMFT) 2 year olds in funded early education- % of DfE Target
77% (Spring 

21/22)
82% N/A

Spring Term 

2021/22
h 95%

All eligible 2 year olds benefit from 

funded early years education

Childhood Obesity V6 (LUI)
% of children in year 6 who are overweight or obese

36.2% 35.9% 35.2% 2020 i 34%
All children to be a healthy weight at the 

end of Year 6

Young people going into higher education A1 (LUI) % Key Stage 4 going into/remaining in education 85.2% 84.1% 86.9% 2020 i 90%
All young people going into/remaining 

in further education after KS4

A2 (LUI) % Primary schools 'good' & 'outstanding' 88.2% 89.5% 88.7% Ad Hoc h 95%
All children attending a good or 

outstanding primary school

A3 (LUI) % Secondary schools 'good' & 'outstanding' 66.7% 66.7% 78.9% Ad Hoc n 80%
All children attending a good or 

outstanding secondary school

Proportion of children with good reading skills A4 (LUI) % Key Stage 2 achieving expected reading standard 73% 72% 73% 2019 i 80%

All children to be provided with the 

opportunity to achieve their full 

educational potential

A5 (LUI) Secondary Fixed Term Exclusions 6.66% 10.11% N/A
Autumn 

2021/2022
h

A6 (LUI) Mean worthwhile ratings (adults 16+) 7.92 7.79 7.71 2020/2021 i 8.5
All residents 16+ feel that the things 

they do in life are worthwhile

Early Help Intervention R1 Child and Family Assessments completed each quarter 973 1214 N/A Q4 2021/2022 h
All vulnerable families receive the help 

they need

Reduce the number of first time entrants into Youth Justice R2 First Time Entrants into Youth Justice aged 10-17, rate per 100k 36.75 22.96 N/A Q4 2021/2022 i 212.9
No young people entering the youth 

justice system

Increased levels of fostering and adoption R3 % Cared for children adopted each quarter 0.44% 2.84% N/A Q4 2021/2022 h 18.60%

All looked after children provided with 

the opportunity to be adopted, where its 

of benefit to the young person, within 

Improve the quality of social care practice R4
Children's Services Audits Rated 'Good' & 'Outstanding', YTD, End 

of Quarter
35% 34% N/A Q4 2021/2022 i 50%

All Children Social Care audits rated 

good or outstanding

Increase median resident earnings W1 (LUI) Median Annual Income £25,825 £27,706 £31,490 2021 h £27,492
The median annual income to be in line 

with the England average

W2 (LUI) Percentage in Employment (Rolling 12 Month Period) 72.9% 74.6% 75.1% 2021 h 78% All people who can work are in work

W3 Universal Credit Recipients
26,849 (March 

2021)
25,341 N/A Mar-22 i

W4 (LUI) Universal Credit Recipients in Employment
36.4% (Feb 

2021)
40.4% 40.5% Feb-21 h

W5 New enterprises (percentage of total businesses) 12.66% 12.27% 12.12% 2020 i 18.97%

Tameside is recognised as a vibrant 

economy where entrepreneurs are 

supported to start new businesses

W6 Business Rate Taxbase: Total Rateable Value
£148,955,604 

(May 2021)
£148,477,595 N/A May-22 i

W7 (LUI)
Regional Gross Value Added Per Head (Balanced): NW Current 

Prices
£15,541.95 £15,810.64 N/A 2019 h

Working age population with at least Level 3 skills W8 (LUI) Percentage of population with at least level 3 skills 48.6% 49.0% 61.3% 2021 h 54.90%

Higher proportion of Tameside's 

population have Level 3 skills than the 

national average

W9 (LUI)
Proportion of employed residents in skilled employment (SOC 1-3, 

5)
48.9% 47.0% 59.0% 2020/2021 i

W10 (LUI) Number of apprenticeships started per 10,000 residents aged 16-64 113.0 (1,640) 112.6 (1,590) 91.2 (321,440) 2020/2021 i 2310
Apprenticeships are available to all that 

seek them

W11 (LUI)
Number of apprenticeship achievements per 10,000 residents aged 

16-64
55.4 (780) 60.2 (850) 44.4 (156,530) 2020/2021 h

W12 Households Receiving Council Tax Support
18,204 (Apr 

2021)
19,019 N/A Apr-22 h

I1 Particulate Matter Pollution in the Air (PM2.5, ug/m^3) 9.70 7.60 7.54 2020 i 6
Air quality to be good and at least be in 

line with the UK average

To be developed

Previous 

Position

National 

Average
Progress

Targets

PeriodMetric Reference

R
e
s
il

ie
n

t 
F

a
m

il
ie

s
 &

 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

iv
e
 N

e
tw

o
rk

s

Covid-19 Impact and Recovery

W
o

rk
 S

k
il

ls
 &

 E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

Improve air quality

Increase the number of good quality apprenticeships 

delivered

Theme Priority Outcome Metric
Current 

Position

A
g

e
in

g
 W

e
ll

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 a

n
d

 E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

G
re

a
t 

P
la

c
e
 -

 I
a
n

 S
a
x
o

n
 /

 V
ib

ra
n

t 
E

c
o

n
o

m
y

Promote a whole system approach and Improving wellbeing 

and resilience

Increase the working age population in employment

Increase the number of people earning above the Living 

Wage

S
ta

rt
in

g
 W

e
ll

V
e
ry

 B
e
s
t 

S
ta

rt

L
iv

in
g

 W
e
ll

Children attending 'good' and 'outstanding' schools

A
s
p

ir
a
ti

o
n

s
 &

 H
o

p
e

(E
d

u
c

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

A
tt

a
in

m
e
n

t 
M

e
a
s
u

re
s
 

S
u

s
p

e
n

d
e

d
)

Data as of 16th May 2022

Improve school readiness

Increase number of enterprise / business start-ups

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 6



Apr 2025 Apr 2030

Previous 

Position

National 

Average
Progress

Targets

PeriodMetric ReferenceTheme Priority Outcome Metric
Current 

Position

I2 Territorial Carbon Dioxide Emissions (kilotonnes) 849.92 810.10 879.27 2019 i

I3 Trees Planted Annually 15000 16095 N/A 2021/2022 h

Increase the number of net additional dwellings I4 (LUI) Net Additional Dwellings per 10,000 Residents 20.93 16.2 38.3 2020/2021 i

Increase the number of affordable homes I5 New Affordable Homes per 10,000 Residents 8.51 2.51 9.2 2020/2021 i

I6 Maximum Mean Download Speed 88.2 83.1 84.6 Q4 2021/2022 i 41.5
All households to have access to high 

quality internet services

I7 (GMFT) Premises with Superfast-Capable (30Mbps) Network Infrastructure
99.6% (Q4 

20/21)
99.5% 97.5% Q4 2021/2022 n

I8 (LUI) Premises with Gigabit-Capable Network Infrastructure
61.5% (Q4 

20/21)
76.6% 68.2% Q4 2021/2022 h

Reduce tonnes of waste sent to landfill and increase the 

proportion recycled
I9 Percentage of household waste recycled 49.3% 47.2% 42.3% 2020/2021 i 57.78%

All household waste recycled where 

possible

Increase journeys by sustainable transport/no car I10 (LUI) % population walking / cycling 3+ times a week 42% 39% 46% 2019/2020 i 47%
Tameside is a walking/cycling friendly 

borough

Reduce victims of domestic abuse N1 Rate of PPIs per 1000
22.6 (Q3 

2020/21)
22.6 N/A Q3 2021/2022 n 25.1

Tameside has low rates of domestic 

abuse

N2 Street counts & estimates of rough sleepers
0.13 per 10k 

Households

0.48 per 10k 

Households

0.97 per 10K 

Households
2021 h 2

Nobody sleeping rough on the streets 

of Tameside

N3 Households owed a prevention or relief duty per 1,000 Households 13.6 11.4 11.4 2020/2021 i

N4 (LUI) Mean life satisfaction ratings (adults 16+) 7.74 7.43 7.38 2020/2021 i 8.5 Maintain mean life satisfaction at 8.5

N5 (GMFT) Mean GM life satisfaction score, Y10 Students 6.02 N/A 2021

Victims of crime/fear of crime N6 Crime Rate per 1,000 residents
9.5 (March 

2021)
9.3 N/A Mar-22 i Tameside is a low crime borough

N7 Deaths due to suicide- rate per 100,000 9.4 8.3 10.4 2018-2020 i

N8 IAPT Referrals 2245 (Q2) 2,525 N/A Q3 2021/2022 h 12383.4
Everyone has access to good quality 

mental health services

N9 Food Bank Enquiries 64 (Apr 21) 62 N/A Apr-22 i

N10 Placements in Emergency Temporary Accommodation 557 510 N/A 2020/2021 i

N11 Domestic Abuse Incidents reported to Children's Services 335 (April 2021) 270 N/A Apr-22 i

N12 Self Isolation Payments 3,233 N/A Total

L1 (LUI) Healthy Life Expectancy at birth
M- 61.9 years, F- 

58.7 years

M- 61.6 years, F- 

58.2 years

M- 63.1 years, F- 

63.9 years
2018-2020 i

Male - 61.2 years, 

Female - 62.3 

years

Healthy life expectancy to be in line with 

the England average

L2 (LUI)
Under-75 mortality rate form cardiovascular diseases considered 

preventable
41.3 41.6 29.2 2020 h

L3 Covid-19 Vaccination Rate (1st Dose, Residents 18+)
92.0% (3rd 

March)
92.8% (8th May) 93.2% (8th May) Ad Hoc h

L4 Covid-19 Bed Occupancy - ICFT
10% (10th 

March 2022)

8% (25th April 

2022)
N/A Ad Hoc i

Improve the wellbeing of our population L5 (LUI) Mean happiness ratings (adultss 16+) 7.39 7.13 7.31 2020/2021 i 7.52
Maintain mean happiness ratings above 

8

Smoking prevalence L6 (LUI) Prevalence of smoking, 18+. Survey Data 17.0% 18.2% 13.9% 2019 h 11%
Tameside and Glossop are smoke free 

areas

L7 % of population 'inactive' (<30m exercise a week) 30.5% 30.0% 27.5%
May 2020 - May 

2021
i 25.20%

All residents are physical active where 

possible

L8 (LUI) % adults (18+) classified as overweight or obese 71.3% 70.3% 63.5% 2020/2021 i

Good' and 'Outstanding' GPs practices L9 CQC Audit Results: % good or outstanding 100.0% 100.0% N/A Ad Hoc n 100%
All GP practices to be rated good or 

outstanding by CQC

N
u

rt
u

ri
n

g
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

Covid-19 Impact and Recovery

L
o

n
g

e
r 

&
 H

e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
L

iv
e
s

Improve air quality

Increase levels of physical activity

Digital inclusion

Covid-19

Increase physical and mental healthy life expectancy

Improve satisfaction with local community

Increase access, choice, and control in emotional and mental 

self-care and wellbeing

Reduce the number of rough sleepers/homelessness

Targets to be agreed

A
g

e
in

g
 W

e
ll

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 a

n
d

 E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t

G
re

a
t 

P
la

c
e
 -

 I
a
n

 S
a
x
o

n
 /

 V
ib

ra
n

t 
E

c
o

n
o

m
y

L
iv

in
g

 W
e
ll

P
age 88



Apr 2025 Apr 2030

Previous 

Position

National 

Average
Progress

Targets

PeriodMetric ReferenceTheme Priority Outcome Metric
Current 

Position

L10 Admission rate for alcohol related harm per 100k (Broad Definition) 2178 1820 1738 2020/2021 i 2250
Alcohol harm rates are low and support 

is available

L11 Deaths from drug misuse per 100k 5.6 8.8 5 2018-2020 h 4
Drug misuse rates and low and support 

is available

Increase the number of people helped to live at home ID1 Funded Permanent 65+ in residential/nursing homes per 100k
139.4 (Q3 

2020/21)
141.6 N/A Q3 2021/22 h 585.6

Only those in most in need access 

residential/nursing care at the right 

point for them

Reduce hospital admissions due to falls ID2 Emergency admissions for falls 65+ per 100k 2073 2189 2023 2020/2021 h 1875.57
Emergency falls in the 65+ age group 

are low

Increase levels of self-care / social prescribing ID3 % service users who find it easy to find information 70.2% 70.6% 68.4% 2019/2020 h 78.6%
Tameside and Glossop is a place 

where people are supported to self care

Good' and 'Outstanding' social care settings ID4 CQC Audit Results: % care home beds good or outstanding
82% (March 

2022)
78.8% N/A Ad Hoc i 80%

All residential/nursing settings are rated 

good or outstanding

Prevention support outside the care system ID5
Number of people supported outside the social care system with 

prevention based services
5965 6431 N/A Q3 2021/2022 h 7500

All people are supported to remain in 

the community

ID6 Contacts Made to ASC
764 (March 

2021)
716 N/A Jan-22 i

ID7 Open ASC Provisions
4904 (March 

2021)
4554 N/A Jan-22 i

L
o

n
g

e
r 

&
 H

e
a
lt

h
ie

r 
L

iv
e
s

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
c
e
 &

 D
ig

n
it

y
 i

n
 O

ld
e

r 
A

g
e

Covid-19 Impact and Recovery

Reduce drug and alcohol related harm

* Where available data will be provided at the Tameside & Glossop level for heath related indicators. Data as of 16th May 2022.

A
g

e
in

g
 W

e
ll

G
re

a
t 

P
la

c
e
 -

 I
a
n

 S
a
x
o

n
 /

 V
ib

ra
n

t 
E

c
o

n
o

m
y

L
iv

in
g

 W
e
ll

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY ACTIVITY AND WORK PROGRAMME – 2022 to 2024 
 
HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Tameside Scrutiny Panels are required to publish an Annual Work Programme of planned activity.  
The programme of work will cover a two-year rolling period that is to be reviewed, updated and 
agreed on an annual basis.  
 
The annual work programme will aim to reflect priority issues across the Council and external 
partners.  Work will continue to improve the flexibility, responsiveness and reporting methods of all 
scrutiny activity undertaken.  
 
Each year a range of emerging topics and issues may require the attention of Scrutiny.  It is therefore 
important to ensure efforts are best placed to support and influence effective decision-making, with 
the added focus on improving outcomes for residents and communities. 
 
Scrutiny Activity 
Work has been undertaken to develop a list of topics for consideration.  The Annual Work 
Programme is to be reviewed and signed off at the next meeting of Overview Panel on 25 July 2022. 
 
There is a range of options available to each Scrutiny Panel as to how activity is planned, with a 
further need to consider timescales and future reporting.  The Chair will work closely with panel 
members in order to determine the best approach for how activity will be undertaken. 
 
Scrutiny activity will continue to adopt a combination of approaches to review service and 
performance updates, respond to formal consultations, focus reports of the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman and areas in need of more in-depth review.  This includes a responsibility 
for: 

 Research and insight on a particular issue, including desktop reviews 

 Review of decisions and recommendations 

 Follow-up (from previous review / municipal year) 

 Engagement and consultation – to provide responses to pre-decision activity 

 Consideration of decisions and reports from the Ombudsman 

 Budget updates 

 Receive updates on key issues as they arise 

 Active monitoring of national and regional policy and substantive variation to service change 
 

Plans remain in place to keep scrutiny members informed on the range of engagement and 
consultation activity taking place both within the Council and across partners.  Where deemed 
appropriate, the wider development of scrutiny may include project support and service development 
work undertaken at the request of the Executive as a critical friend. 
 
Remit of the Panel 
The Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel has responsibility for considering the delivery and 
commissioning arrangements that sit within the Council’s Population Health and Adult Services 
directorates. 
 
The Panel is also responsible for scrutinising the wider health system in Tameside, with a statutory 
function to review and monitor service delivery across local health partners that include Tameside & 
Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust, the Clinical Commissioning Group (GM ICS from 1 
July 2022) and commissioned providers. 
 
In Tameside, Health Scrutiny aims to improve people's health by looking at the quality, performance, 
accessibility and outcomes of NHS services in the borough. This is achieved by undertaking both 
specific, crosscutting and thematic reviews. 
 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



Past Activity – 2021/22 
The table below provides a brief summary Scrutiny activity and oversight undertaken during the 
2021/22 municipal year, for information. 
 

Health and Adult Social Care 

 Health Improvement Service 

 Health and Care Bill 

 In-depth review of Mental Health (Access and Crisis), to be continued. 

 Adult Services 

 Assurance review of LGSCO focus report – Domestic Abuse 

 Corporate Performance Scorecard 

 Mid-year and Annual Budget Update 
 

 
Annual Work Programme 
Scrutiny will undertake core assurance activity with health partners during the municipal year, to 
include:  

 Tameside & Glossop NHS Integrated Care Foundation Trust 

 NHS GM Integrated Care (incl. General Practice) 

 Pennine Care NHS Mental Health Foundation Trust 
 
The work programme below captures the input and discussion of panel members in June 2022. 
The list of topics does not reflect the order in which activity will be selected or undertaken. 
 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel 

 Adult Social Care Reform White Paper implementation 

 Tameside carers  

 Next steps for health integration – GMICS 
- Tameside progress to date, performance and opportunity for local flexibility 

 Health outcomes and inequality 
- population health prevention programmes, commissioning priorities and delivery 

 Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust 
- Health system recovery and pressures (including workforce) 
- Community healthcare 
- Admission avoidance and discharge (including social care) 

 The ongoing impacts of Covid 19 - access to health care, presentations and waiting lists 
- Primary and secondary care 

 Digital Health services – across health and social care 

 Learning disability services – journey, support and outcomes 

 The Panel to receive regular updates during the year regarding new and emerging areas 

Follow-up on past activity 

 Mental Health (Access and Crisis) 

 Domestic Abuse 

 

Additional in-year monitoring 

 Budget updates – annual and mid-year 

 Feedback and learning from complaints (LGSCO) 

 Performance monitoring against corporate priorities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Future meetings 
The table below shows the dates of future meetings for the 2022/23 municipal year and the topics 
and monitoring already identified. 
 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Panel 

28 July 2022 22 September 
2022 

3 November 2022 12 January 2023 9 March 2023 

 Adult Social Care 
White Paper 
implementation. 
 

 Executive 
response to 
LGSCO learning 
report 

 

 Corporate 
Performance 
Scorecard - 
monitoring 

 
 

 Mid-year Budget 
Update 
 

 Corporate 
Performance 
Scorecard -  
monitoring 

  Corporate 
Performance 
Scorecard -  
monitoring 

Corporate 
Performance 
Scorecard -  
monitoring 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 ADULT SOCIAL CARE REFORM WHITE PAPER
	5 LGSCO LEARNING REPORT
	Figure 1
	Ombudsman’s Foreword
	About this report
	Our approach to complaints involving COVID-19
	COVID casework headlines
	What period are we looking at?
	How many COVID-19 related complaints have we dealt with? 
	What types of COVID complaints have we investigated? 
	What are the outcomes from our COVID investigations? 
	How many COVID related complaints have we upheld? 



	Principles of good administrative practice
	1.	Getting it right – the basics

	2.	Being service user-focused: individual circumstances
	3.	Being open and accountable – evidence-based decisions
	4.	Acting fairly and proportionately – right framework for decisions
	5.	Putting things right – when it goes wrong, put it right
	6.	Seeking continuous improvement – learning from the crisis
	Questions for councillors and scrutiny committees
	Appendix 
	ITEM 5 - LGSCO response FINAL

	6 CORPORATE PLAN SCORECARD
	7 ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME




Accessibility Report





		Filename: 

		COVID-19 - F.pdf









		Report created by: 

		SP3



		Organization: 

		







 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]



Summary



The checker found problems which may prevent the document from being fully accessible.





		Needs manual check: 0



		Passed manually: 3



		Failed manually: 0



		Skipped: 1



		Passed: 27



		Failed: 1







Detailed Report





		Document





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set



		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF



		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF



		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order



		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified



		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar



		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents



		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast



		Page Content





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged



		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged



		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order



		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided



		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged



		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker



		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts



		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses



		Navigation links		Passed manually		Navigation links are not repetitive



		Forms





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged



		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description



		Alternate Text





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text



		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read



		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content



		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation



		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text



		Tables





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot



		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR



		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers



		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column



		Summary		Skipped		Tables must have a summary



		Lists





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L



		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI



		Headings





		Rule Name		Status		Description



		Appropriate nesting		Failed		Appropriate nesting










Back to Top

